A REPORT ON THE MANZAWAR RIOT OF SUNDAY DECEMBER 6, 1942
by

Togo Tanaka

PERSONALITY SKETCHES--of Principals Involved

FredMasarwuTaye&ma, who was attacked on Saturday evening,

December 5, as the first intended victim of the Manganar riot, is a native of
Hawaii. He is 37 years old, married, and the father of an ll-year old dau-
ghters halil the eldest son in a family of eight children--all Ameriecan citi-
zenss he acquired his education largely in Central California and his higher
education from the Armour Institute (now Illinois Institube) of Technology,
He has never been to Japan but reads, writes, and speaks Japanese (learned in
a language school, at home and in business contacts) sufficiently well to
qualify for a teaching position at the Navy's Japanese language school at the
University of Colorado (Bouldef).

Tayama's "public" 1life began comparatively late*., He first appeared in

los Angeles Japanese American Citizens League activities in 1939 when he was

elected first vice-president in a cabinet headed by Eiji Tanabe., Prior to that

time, Tayama had devoted his time almost exclusively to operating a chain of
Main Street and East Fifth Street restaurants in los Angeles; his leisure was
apparently occupied in his hobby of golf; he mingled rarely with the group
identified among Southern California Japanese as "J.A.C.L.-ers", In business,
he held a reputation among the Niseil of Los Angeles as one of the more success-
ful entrepeneurs. He drove a late model Buick seda, large for a family of
three, owned his own home, was kmown to employ anywhere between 5 and 50 ‘em=
ployees at his restaurants, played golf with the Japanese Consul (Tomokazu Hori)
and was frequently asked by Nisei clubs to sefve, with his wife, as patron and

patroness at numerous social functions.

*Most Los Angeles J.A.C.L. leaders who preceded him were still in their
twenties when elected to the presidenoy.
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In the same year he first became prominent in J.A,C.L. activity, he

was named Chairman of the Annual Nisei Festival, an event which was then aocknowe
lecgec as Little Tokyo'!s greatest "tourist attraction." It was usually a fes-
tival lasting throughout one week, opemed by a gala ball at an expensive down

Los Angeles
town/Hotel (frequently the Biltmore) and winding up with Japanese ondo dancing
in Little Tokyo, md occasionally, a strewt brawl staged by hoodlum elements
end juvenile delinquents. 'The J.A.C.L. annually repped a fat harvest of de
nuneiation, abuse and oritieism from the Nisei Festivals :(1) Opportunities
for "favoritism", both actual and imagined, by J.A,C.L. officials in running
the"Nisei Queen" contest were invariably the target of commmity-wide discussion,
often quite heatm&‘l (2) the so=called hoodlum element which liked to add a
little exeitement to Little Tokyo orowds by staging gang fights early resented
the repressive measures instituted by the J,A.C.L., such as issuing newspaper
warmings and securing additional squads of police; (3) Charges of "graft" and
"fraud" were frequently rdised, and almost as frequently unfounded. Tayama's
term as chairman end the following year in which he served as League presi-
dent, were no exceptions, For the preceding eight or nine years, Tayama's
predecessors had left office "disillusioned and somewhat bitter" against
both the J.A.C,L. and an "ungrateful publioc™; it was often pointed out, as if
in confirmation of this olaim, that such preceding League presidents as Kay

Sugahara (now in the Persomnel end Employment division at Granada Rglocation

Center) John Maeno, (last reported to be at Poston Relocation Center,) Dr.

Michael M, Horii (last reported towerking as construction gang member in

Salt Lake City), Ken Matsumoto (last reported to be in Cincinnatti, Ohio,
following his profession as jewelry display artist), end Eiji Tanabe (now
teaching at the University of Michigan in the new Japanese language school
there)=-all took comparatively little--or noe-part in J.A.C.L. activity
following their terms in the presidency. It was almost axiomatic that the
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most oritioised and most frequently slandered Nisel in los Angeles was usually
the man who held the J.A.C.L, presidency.

In Tayem's second year of prominemce in the League, he was the target
of a series of articles in the newspaper "Doho", which held the reputation then
of being more or less the stepchild of Japanese vernacular journalism se it
then existed, Tayama was accused in the columms of "Doho", both in Japanese
and English, of being a "labor-baiter™ and e "hypoorite", The newspaper de-
nunciation grew out of asserted labor difficulties in the chain of restaurants
operated by Tayama, Tayama was acoused of operating under "sweat shop conditions"
underpaying his help, and of obstructing the unionization of his employees,
The publisher and editor of "Doho", Shuji Fujii (now with the Office of War
Information, reportedly as a translator) attacked Tayama in signed editorials.
Close associates of Fujii in labor union aotivities organized pioket lines in
front of the U, S, Cafes, as the Tayama restaurants were oalled, Tayams
countered with court injunctions restraining the piocketing, secured a permit to
carry a gun for his proteotion; he admitted that he was opposed to unioniging
his employees but denied they wer: overworked and underpaid, Regarding the
campaign in the newspaper "Doho" against him, he once remarkeds "I don't mind
being picked on by thet sheete Just the fact that it singles you out for an
attack means you're all right." That sentiment, moreover, was more general
than exceptional among the Japanese of Southern California at the time, Shuji
Fujii was rumored--and the rumor was accepted widely--to be a Communist; and
among the Japanese commnity to be an "Ada" (red), was a complete and utter
brush-of f of anyone, You must didn't belong and that was that.

While he was acknowledged and hailed emong his J.A.C.L. friends es a
"regular guy" who played a stiff hand at poker, traded gusty Jokes with the hest
of 'em and won more than his share of golf trophies, he was regarded in a small

but very artioulate dircle (Nisei sympathetic to the Shuji Fugii following)

as a greedy would-be Nisei capitalist exploiting his fellow humen beings, Tayama

was & Republican and smoked big fat oigars, they said,
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A key to Tayama's personality make-up was revealed to friends once when at
a public mpeaking oclass session in which he had enrolled he saids "You kmow, I
have been raised to always do my very best and to rise to the very top. I firmly

believe that one should always strive to be at the top. Even if I were to be a

be )
bandit, I would expect to/the Chief Bgndit." Eiji Tenabe, his predecessor in

the J.A.C,L. presidency, and the office secretaries in Los Angeles generally
degoribed him as of "dominating disposition,"™

In his third year of J.A.C.L. activity, Tayama gained the chairmanship of
the Southern Distriet Council, embracing 17 chapters of the League throughout
Southern California, At this time, several business reverses, an unfavorable
ocourt decision in a sult, compelled his withdrawal from the restaurant business,
He organigzed the Pacifioc Service Bureau, primarily to sell insurance, but also
to render various business services for Los Angeles Japanese. In opening this
new venture, he ran into the opposition of established brokers. Spirited--and
oft-times unfriendly--rivalry broke out between the Pacific Service Burea and
one firm in partioular, the S, Nobe & Company. The latter was acoused by
T;&nma of having deliberately blocked Tayama's securing the agency from one of
the larger indemmity companies, Se Nobe & Company had most of the downtown
los Angeles wholesale terminal market business. Tayama moved in, soon claimed
that Pacific Service Bureau had been promised a number of bonds by the Whole-
-oil. Produce Commission Merchants A;aooiation through its exeoutive secretary,
Ted Akashoshi, whom Tayema said was e long-time personal friend of his. In the
business torpedoing that ensued, it was rumored about Tayame that he had engaged
in unethical business practises, that one of the alleged reasons for his having
to quit the restaurant business was trouble with the State Board of Equalization,
Tayem told close friends that an unfavorable court decision arising out of e
demage sult caused by an altereation in which one of his employees hadd figured

was the real sause of his retirement,
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The Pacifio Service Bureau was & three-man affair. Associated with Tayams
were Hayaji Matsuo, of Chicage end a former classmate of Tayama's, and Kiyoshi
Higashi (still at Manzanar as Chief of Internal Security) who ixad been in the
insurance business for the preceding three and a half years, centering his
sotivities ohiefly in Orange County, Terminal Island, and Long Beach, The
Bureau was founded in QOctober, 1941, and folded up a f'ew weeks before eva-
ocuation in April 1942,

In both the restaurant business and in his Service Bureau venture,

Tg.ym had faced the fact that he had bitter personal enemies,

Among the community (Japgnese) as it was then constituted, however, he
carried considerable prestige. He was not only aceepted by both the Issei and
the Wisei, but because of his bilingual capacities, he was often called upon
for advice and consultation by the Kibei. The Issei circle in which he moved
was then recognized as the leudermp element among the Japanese, both from
the standpoint of economie pe-min@oe a:;d social positions (It might be
added here that most of the leadership element among the older Japanese went
into F.B,I. ocustody immediately upon war's outbreak)

In his JusAsCole work, Teyama was conspiouously outspoken and vigorous in
the campaign of "Americanization" of the Japanese population. His leadership
came at a time when relations between the United States and Japen were becoming
inoreasingly strained, and more than any preceding League president, he stressed
the "ebsolute need for undivided loyalty and allegiance to the United States in
the event of a war with Japan, which we hope will never oceur." He organized
the Equality Committee under the League to fight for "equal rights for all
Americens, irrespective of their recial mmtecedents” and pressed an energetic
wempaign to secure equality of opportunity "for Nisei to make permanent homes "
He referred to the disoriminatorv state real estate regulation preventing e Nisei
from ocoupying his own home if it were located on "restrioted" property. He or-

ganiged a Speskers Bureau under the los Angdles to send Nigei representatives
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before gservice olubs, chureh groups and ainila:; sudiences to "win better
understanding of the Nisei's loyalty and allegiance to America" He staged

mass rallies, such as one held at the American legion Hall in Hellyweod

with the co-sponsdrship of the Americanism Equoational Lesgue in the summer
of '41. In the course of these activities, the League mede contaots with the
United States Naval Intelligence amd the Feder-l Bureau of Investigation,
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Several months before the outbreak of war, the Southern
District Council J,A.C,L,, of which Tayama was chairman, through
its contacts with these federal agencles, organized what was Ymown
as the Southern California Coordinating Committee for Defense,

Among other dutles, this body was charged with gathering
information on subversive activitics; this Information wes to be
turned over directly to Naval Intelligence. (For further detalls
on this body, refer to attached exhibite A & B), Chalrman of this

cormittee was Joe Masaoka, whose name was also on the death 1list

of the Manzanar "Blood Brothers" (See W.R,A. Project Report Noy—82

Man:anar]

Ail of these J.A.C.L. activitlies were, as various signe

showed, not viewed with wholehearted support by the entire Japanese
population. In August and September of 1941, several months before
Pearl Harbor, the Japanese expression "inu" (nearest equivelent is
stoolpigeon, or informer) was belng applied to some J,A,C,L, leaders.
Conversation in "Little Tokio" (Los Angeles Japanese business dis-
trict centering on East First and Sgn Pedro Streets) barber shops,
cafes, bath houses, and other gathering places offered ample
evidence. (It should be noted hore that all such conversation

was invariably in Japanese.)

There was comparatively little--almost no-- open public
eriticism against this type of League activity, but there was
sufficient undercurrent sentiment against it, particularly among
the so-called Kibel element. At that time, however, few Japanese
in Southern California believed there would be war between the
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United States and Japan before the end of the year,

In en analysis of the Japanese population and its
division--if war eame with Japan--the staff of the Los Angeles
Japanese Dapily llews once estimated that the J ,A.C.L, and the
Jeadership among the nisei which 1t represented would command
roughly 15 to 20 per cent of the adult male populstions following.

It should be noted here that the J,A.C.L,, of whieh
Tayama was the outstanding symbel at Manzanar, represented a
numericel minority of the population even in pre-war times.

It was the most active group, however, and invarlebly
attracted the more "Americanized" English-speaking individuals.

When war osame suddenly on December 7, 1941, the Les
Angeles chapter of the Japsnese American Citiszens Leagus organized
what became lmown as the "Anti-Axis Committee", This comnmittee
enlarged upon the work of the Coordinating Committee for Southern
California Defense, Tayama appointed as chairman of the group
Tokutare Nishimura Slocum, a resident of Van Huys who had lived
quite removed from the Japanese gonmunity for several years. Slo-
cum, a veteran of the World War and an Aneriocan Leglonnalre, was
generally regarded among the Japanese unfavorably; he had numerous
enemies. His appointwent by Teyama was not, to put it mildly, well
received in the Japanese community. The ¥,B,I, was making daily
arrests. Scores of men whom the conmunity generally cons idered
"ynnocent” of any suspected charges were rounded up and sent to
{nternment camba. Fear, uncertainty, and panic gripped people.

Who's next? was & common questlon everywhere. Pathetic tales of
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pregnant woman gone insane when her husband was taken away soon

made the rounds of Lgs Angeles. One family was sald to have been
found by the International Institute where both the Mpother end Fgher
had been arrested and the small children left parentless inm the house.
For all this, the J,A.C,L's Anti-Axls committee was soon being

51amed. A deep resentment was being bullt up in the minds of the

average Japanese,

The only newspaper publicity which the J,A.C.l.. received
at this time--in the metropolitan press-dealt with the spy-detection
activities of the Anti-Axis Committee. This had the effect of con-
firming in the minds of the Japanese--both Issel and Nisel--that the
J.A,C.,L., was witeh-hunting among ite own people.

Teyame, as the man most frequently out in front, as the
Chairman of the Southern Distriet Council, overshadowed his
successor in the Los Angeles presidency, Shigemi Aratani. Tayama
himself had been at odds with Slocum for quite some time, did- not
personally like the men, but appointed him to the chairman of the
Antl-Axis Committee because "Slocum has the confidence of the F,B,I.
and the Naval Intelligence”™ (this statement wes made at one of the
Anti-Axis Cormittee meetings in the Japanese Y,M,C,A,, 312 East
First Street, L,A, in December, '41)., Tayama assumed responsibility
for Slocum's appointment, took mueh of the abuse that was later
heaped on the League for its Anti-Axis Committee sctivities.

In the months between Pearl Harbor and April, 1942 when
when evacuation was half under way, two stories about Tgyama began
to make the rounds.

One was that his Pacific Service Bureau was making ex-
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orbitant profits from high charges for services which could be
obtalined free by walking several blocks to the Federal building,
These services included the filing of alien travel permits (then
belng reguired by the Department of Jystice), transfer of business

licenses, and the llke., Another version of the s tory was that

Tayama, through his connection with the J _A,.C,L, and the Anti-Axis
Committee, instructed secretarlies of these organizations to send
individuals who went to these offices to send them upstairs to the
Service Bureau office. It was charged that the J ,A.C,L, was render-
ing these services free, that the Service Bureau charged a fee any-
where from three dollars to twenty dollars,

Tayama did not deny that some individuals were referred to
the Serviece Bureau by the J,A.C.L,, but these only when the League
was wnable to help them., He sald no exorbitant charges were made,
that all his cllents were not only satisfied but many very grateful;
he denied any unethical practlses and sald that charges that he was
exploiting aliens' distress were outright distortions.

The stories, nevertheless, persisted, and followed Tgyama
right into Manzenar,

The other damaging rumor about Tayama which grew up in
this perlod centered on his alleged mishandling of funds collected
from Terminal Islend fishermen. According to Tayama, and his state-
ment is confirmed by Frank Ishii, Fprank Ono, and George Inageki, all
fellow offlcers in the Southern District Couneill, Tayama himself
never touched any of the funds of the Terminal Islanders. This

money was entrusted to the care of Kiyoshl Higashi, who had served
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as president of the Terminal Island Chapter of the J,A.C.L, and who
is still at Manzanar (as of January 7, 1943), The fact that Higashi
and his wife lived with the Tayamas for several weeks prior to
evacuation and occupled the same barrack at Manzanar for over seven
months (up to the time of the riot) is accounted for by some as
belng the reason for the confusion on this score,

(For coverage on the Yerminal Island fund and rumors

sbout it, refer to later report on Kiyeshi Higashil.)

Note to Morton--This started out as a "personality
sketch" as you instructed, but it has turned out to be a chrono-
loglcal account of Los Angeles & Southern California J.A,C,L. pre-
evacuation activity as 1t centered around Fred Tayama, Perhaps
it should have had a more appropriate heading, I this is not what
you want, send me Iinstructions immediately.

Another story which attached itself to Tgyama and provided
fuel for the campaign of villiflication against the J A.C,L. in gener
al and Tayamg in particular from the day Manzsnar greeted the first
volunteer evacuees was that the Citizens League conspired with cer-
tain government agencies to bring about evacuation., There were many
different shadings to this story. They ranged from theextreme tale
that the "J.A,C.L., sold out for a consideration" to pressure groups
and the federal government (whlch the League subsequently took pains
to prove was a fentastlc fabrication) to the more reasonable charges
that the J,A,C,L. falled to put up a stiff enough fight against
evacuation,

In Los Angeles, d emands for total evacuation of all
Japanese, both citizens and aliens alike, began to be heard as

early as mid-January, Nisel organizations found themselves arrayed
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against each other in a bitter dispute as to whether they should

"cooperate" with federal officlals who were already hinting that
total evacuation would have to come, like it or not, In February,
after Ppresident Roosevelt had taken the matter out of the hands of
the Attorney Genersl's office and placed the Army in full contreol,
nisel organization representatives in Los Angeles were contacted by
Colonel F, Magill, Jr., Provest Marshal for General DeWitt of the
Western Defense Command,

Colonel Magill summoned a group of five Los Angeles Nisel leaders to
the Felrmont Hotel in San Fprancisco to drop the first definlte word
that totel evacuation was on its way. The Seuthern Cglifornisa
J.A.C,L, chapters were represented by Fred Teyama, Tom Clark, then
Alien Coordinator of the Western Defense Command in a ecivilian
capacity, told the group that federal agencles had made preparations
for total evacuation,

Taysma offieclally broke the news to Southern Californlans.
He presided st a mass meeting held shortly after his return at the
Maryknoll Catholic Church auditorium on Hewitt Street, just a stone's
throw from the heart of Little Tokio. The meeting was sponsored by
the Anti-Axis Committee, The news he had to break was bad news,

The majority of Nisel organizations in Lgs Angeles, through
their spokesmen, refused to belleve Tayams and the J,A,C.L. (that
total evacuation was inevitable).

The dispute and bickering between the various groups had
already developed into a fairly large scale organizational feud,
and a rival United Citizens Federation eemboaed of over 21 already--

established groups had been formed to challenge the J,A.C.L, as &
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representative organ of the Japanese community--or at least of the
citizen element,

The accusation that the J ,A.C.L, had "sold us down the
river" or had been "weak-lmeed" in negotiations with the Army in
attempting to protect at least the right of citizens to remain in
their homes immune from evacuation was general,

Intense rivalry sprang up between the J,AC,L, and the
United Citizens Federation, with considerable personal acrimony,
Tayama was in the very thiek of it all.

At Manganer, months after evacuation had been a complete
and accomplished fact, the blame for the removal of all Japanese
from the west goast still continued to be centered on the Jagpanese

American Citizens League.

it might be mentioned here that in November, 1942, the

Documentary Historians for Manzanar, Joe Masaoka and Togo Tgnaka,
lectured to five high sechool senior classes of instructor Miss
Janet Goldberg on the subject "the Beckground of Japanese Evacua-
tion." Questions were put to students at the beginning of each
class, ssking what they belleved were the causes of the Japanese
evacuation., It was Interesting to note that answers from five of
the students in different classes were: "The J,AC,L, caused us
to be evacuated," In one case, the name of Fred Tayama was
specifically mentioned,

(As Tayama continued in aetivities of publie prominence

at Manzanar, these stories grew and spread during the seven months
of his stay there).
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Personality Sketch No. 2

Another casualty of the Manzanar disturbance of December 6
who was subsequently removed from the Center to Death Vglley was--

John Sonoda, who was set upon by a "group of

sbout 20 kibel" (according to his own version) at 8 o'clock Sunday
night (at the height of the rioting) in mess hall 7 where Sonoda had
gone to see a motion picture which was being screened, Sonoda was
Imocked unconsclous by heavy blows from two-by-four clubs wielded
by his assailants and left bleeding'and 1imp en the floor of the
kitehen., Within two hours, the rumor had spread throught he camp
that "John Sonoda was killed tonight." He suffered internal
hemorrhoid of the head and eyes and had two stitches taken on his
skull, He has receovered from his injuries as of this date

(January 7, 1943) and is now waiting for a W,R,A, release so that

he ean go to Boulder, Colorado, where he has been accepted as an
instructor in the Navy Japanese Language School at the University of
Colorado,

Sonoda 1s 25, single, was born in Orange County, California
end by usual stendards, 1s a kilbel. He graduated high school in
Kumamoto, Japan after studying there seven years, returned to the
United States in 1936; he attended Woodbury College in Los Angeles,
did sales work for an electrical appliance company shortly after
leaving school, was office manager for the Union Chemical Company
for several months when he suffered a nervous breakdown, In 1940

he joined the staff of the Japanese division, Occidental Life Insur-

eance Compeny in Les Angeles, and was engaged in this profession
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until evacuation, ﬂ

Unlike most kibeis, ﬁ;noda speaks English without a
trace of accent., He is desoriﬁed as the scholarly type, his
English speech and diection adjnged by fellow workers as quite
superior to that of the "average Nisel,"

As Teyama was deseribed by those who knew him as "domina-
ting and very often stubborn tb%the point of bull-headed", Sonoda 1is
deseribed as "somewhat wishy washy and effeminate" from external
observation, Ag Manzanar, Mr{ S;--, a former Japanese language
newspaper edltor, discussing ?he;"Kibei mind" one day made the
observation that both types (#ypified by Tayama & Sonoda) "make
very good targets for physical assaults by these fanatiecs,"
(referring to the Kibei element)

Sonoda is a quiet-spoken young men, about 5 feet gix
inches in height, invariably well-groomed physically, sports a
mustache, an almost dapper appearance. He5iq mild-mannered and
inoffensive, comes from & well-to-do ramilﬁ, admits he never
indulges in physieal or manual labor, has very small, almost
feminine hends, | aﬁ

His record at Manzanar embrace#lthreeld@fferent Jjobs,
He came to the Center with the first vol&nteer group, secured a
Job with the Personmnel and Employment Division- he held this
position until Juyne when he went over toathe nansanar Freo Press

Japanese gection as a translator, In;qutembor, he;quit the Free

Press to work in the Dgntal Clinie,

At Manzanar, several rumore had been curronk about him,
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One was to the effect that he was "gtuck up sbout his position and
showed favoritism like nobody's business"; there was some resentment
although it was not widespread. In commenting on this rumer, Sonoda
quietly points out: "Mgst of the jobs that I had to assign people
to in the first months required a lkmowledge of the English language;
many of the Kibel who came to me eouldan't speak English very well,

I just had to give the jobs to those who could; that's why the
rumor started,"

Another rumor was to the effect that he quit the Fpee
Press because he was scared out of his job after a beating which was
administered to him by a group of Kibel headed b: two persons whom
Sonoda named as Ben Kishi and Riehard Hashimoto, Sonoda says that
he did not quit because he was "scared out," but he quit because he
wanted "to learn dental mechanics." He related, however, that he
wag set upon and beaten in Juyne by half a dozen Kibei headed by the
above named persons.

Sonoda was attacked in June, he sald, because "I was
accused of discriminating against the Kibei in the Personnel and
Employment division., Ben Kishl approached me one day and asked me
to his barrack on a pretext., I went, and there were half & dozen
fellows who jumped on me as I stepped into the door. They beat me,
Ben Kishi was very emotional about it all, When he was telling me
about my wrong attitude towards a lot of things, tears were streaming
down his face, He sald we were all Japanese and we all owed our

alleglance to the Emperor of Japan, and all that, When that fellow's

in that stete of mind, it's no use talking to him, so I just sald yes,
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end agreed with him, He later apologized, sc I didn't press the
charges." (This statement was made to me by Sonoda on January 6,
1943, at Death Vglley, California, in the presence of
Joaeph Blamey, and Marie Shimizu).
Since that assault, Sonoda sald he never received any
warning or threatening note or letter of any kind, and had no
reason to believe he was in for another attack when the rioting

broke out on December 6. He dld reeall, however, that occasionally

as he passed Bloek 18 enroute home or to the hospital, he was Jeeread

at in Japanese by "several kibei" who knew him by sight,
Sonoda's explanation as to why he should have been picked
out and beaten by the "20 kibel, none of whom I kmew" is as follows:
"I never could get along with the Kibei generally, although
I am one myaalr. I never associated with them,even in Los Angeles,
I ecan' thiank along a single track like most of them do; I don't
believe in the same things they do, In Japan I was sub jeeted to the
liberal influences of an uncle who was quite forthright and outspoken
about his views, He was the type which the military in Japan would
not tolerate, The Kibel are very race-conscious; I am not, They
shy away from mixing with people of other races; I do not. I never
went around expounding my views, but I pguess my actions spoke more
loudly than my words. Ip time, it's bound to get aeround, and my
prinelples are something on which I refuse to back down upon, When
that mob attacked me, I remember several fellows with ugly expressions
yelling about my wrong thoughts, I don't know what I sald in retum,
but I remember they rushed me into a corner so fast I dldn't know what

was happening. I have always been against violence and dld not raise
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i

a hand to defend myself, I thought at first I could talk them
out of it, but when I took a good look at their faces, I ¥new I
was in for some ¥ind of a beating. Before I lmew it, I was out

like a light; it dildn't hurt at all; I have no pecolleection of

it exeept when I woke up in the hospital, Friends told me that

there were unofficial bulletins posted on the messhalls that

evening announcing my death,"

i
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Personality Sketeh No, 3 ==
Earyry Yoshio Ueno, whose jalling

as a suspect in the attack on Fred Tgyama the night of December 5
precipitated the riot of the following day, is described as a
"kibei". (For blographical data on Ueno, if necessary, consult
W.R.A, at Manzanar, or write Mr, Kiyoshi Higashi, Chief of Internal
Policge).

Physically, Ueno is slight; he is about five féet three

inches in height and weighs around 120 pounds; his features are
thin, his complexion is described as "sallow", He is in his mid-

thirties, married, and has two boys. (The foregoing should be

checked for confirmation). In frequent speeches before groups

which he addressed, he made references to "my own family a bout
which I am thinking all the time--my wife and t wo children."

According to the Manzanar police records, Ueno was a
frult stand clerk in Lgs Angeles prior to evacuation. He is
believed to have been born in Hawali, then sent to Japan where he
graduated Koto-gakko (equivalent to Junior high school) and
attended high school on his return to the United States for one
year, Not much i1s known of his record in Los Angeles except that
he was employed in half a dozen different stores there as a clerk
over a perlod of three years., His average monthly salary during
that period was between $80 and §90; prior to evacuation he is
reported to have told police (Manzanar) that he was earning $125
monthly, his all-time high,

Ueno 1s a fluent and persuasive speaker in Japanese,
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His friends sald of him, in the midst of his efforts to organize
the Mess Hall Workers Union, "he's pretty smart guy all right."
His Japanese speech is simple and understandable., His speaking

voice, even when addressing one person, is high pitched; he often

becomes excited. He has the habit, howavef, of dropping his eyes

when talking or conversing with another person, seldom looking an
individual "in the eyes"; this statement was once made by Joseph
Kurihara, probably Ueon's closest bedfellow in the Manzanar dis-
turbance. The occasion was an informal discussion about the wisdom
of the Nisel following Ueon's so-called leadership.

Ueon's ability to write in elther English or Japanese is
rated "average" or "below average", He is not the academic or
educated type.

His job at Manzanar was that of junior cook in Mess Hall
22, the block on which he resided, and also the block which was the
center of the meetings at which the rioting mobs first assembled,
It was at mess hall 22 also that Ueno, early in October, began
formal orgenization of what he termed the "Manzenar Kitchen Workers
Union". It was his reasoning, as he told those close to him, that
"the person who controls the mess halls of Manzanar controls the
whole relocation center." The mess division employed, at that time,
& personnel of about 1600 persons, the largest single department of
Menzanar. Ueno was not interested in control merely as an end in
itself; this he told to all, and his friends were convinced of his
sincerity when he sald that "everything which I do, I am doing for

the sake of the people of Manzanar, I have no selfish motives, and
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this wnselfishness on ﬁw part will be recegnized by the people.”

Among his co-workers and friends, it went without saying
that "all the Japanese have suffered a deep injustice in being
thrown into these camps. Ng Nisel ean 1lift his head and e¢laim that
‘he is a clitizen of the Unlited States., No clitizen in these camps
owes his allegiance or loyalty to America."

On the subject of the war, Ueno said he held one deep-
seated convictlion, and 1t was so deep-seated, he declared, that it
was unshakeable., That was his firm bellef that Japan would win the
war, 1f she had not already won 1t and that in the ultimate end,
his position and what he did on behalf of the Japanese at Manzanar
would be vindicated, and he would emerge ﬁs the man who had saved
the Japanese people, partlcularly the younger Nisel who seemed to
be "so confused by everything."

Some evaluation of Ueno's personalty, can alsoc be
obtained from the following verbatim transeript of notes made by
Ueno in a blue spiral pocket notebook on the first two days of his
arrest; the notebook was taken from him as he was jalled, but it
contains his record of the arrest; it la.acribbled in his own
handwriting in English; ==

"Dec. B, 1942
"9:00 P.M.
- "Assistant Chief Pglice Mr, Williams knock

the door Wife answered He was aleep Went

to sleep 8:30 Told that come from pollice

station Awake from bed Saw police car

Dressed and rode on Pplice car (Cgme to

Pollice station, Asst, Willlam ques,n,

2nd page--

"'You know why you came down her for'
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1 thought FBI Mr. MeCormick cald me that why
I came

Asked where you was evening Apout 7:30 I

got out my home Went to Block 7 and returned
home. I went to bed about 8:30 P,M., Chief
of Police asked the same question as lir,
Williem,

3rd page--

My, Campbell told "This is good case to

send to state penitentlary.

One hour waited here at Manzanar police

station, Chief of Police came to the room

and put hand cuffs on me also Mr, Campbell

with him. Then took me to the front of the
police station and Ch, of Pplice and myself rode
on

4th page--

Chief of police ask

"Whaet you told to the FBI last time you saw
him," I told him 'You better see lr, MoCormick
yourself,

6th page--

"the back of car lir, Campbell drove the car
They tcld me to take me to the Independence
Jail, On the way I asked Ch, of Plice "Please
tell my family where I am"
Mr, Campbell said "No body hear where you are
going to be for a long time, You should think
about famlly long before,' 'I am thinking
about my fnmilg always,' I sald Then Mr.
Campbell said "Too bad you son will golng teo
be Jjallbird son.!' Then I said 'You will bve
ust same some of these day You arrived to
ndependence Jjall, They took off the hand-
cuffs, then took everythings

7th page-

I had in the pocket. Arrived at 20

minutes to 11:00 P.M. Then they give me
blanket and mattress I ever have since I am
in Menzanar lip, Campbell said "you

will be here for a long time: I saild

'"You just don't forget that word,'
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8th page--

"I asked to have belt but they could
not allow me, Next morning I asked

to Shriff my clgarrettes be return. He
sald you can not have anything that is
their order.!

9th page--

"Ch. of Police came to Independence

at 4:00 P.M. to get me to come to Man-

zanar Aprrived here at 4:20 P.M."
Apparently, it was shortly after his return to Manzanar that
Ueno was again searched and the notebeok in which he had kept
a dlary record of his experiences following his arrest was taken

away from him., The misspellings, grammatical errors, notably
lack of periods, are all copied in the foregoing,
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Personality Sketoch No. 4.

Joseph ¥, Kurihara, who was jailed by military order

early in the evening of the December 6th riot, had a general reputation throughout
NMenzanar typified by his oft-repeated statement: "I am 100 per cent Japanese;
1 em proud of having Japanese blooR in my veins and my spirit of ysmato demashii;
the American government can have my citizenship anytime; I don't want itl"
Eurihare was recognized as one of the two most voluble and dramatic
spokesmen for the group whichecentered its activity first (1) 4in opposing any
end all activity sponsored by the J. A. Cs L. group end latterly (2) in initieting
such activity as the organiszing of the Mess Hall workers union. (This union, ine
oidentally, was never recognized by the W.R.A. administration end its organizers
were branded by administrators generally as 'agitators'.)
A veterna who had served overseas under the Stars and Stripes in the
last war, Kurihare hed been born in Hawaii and said he had never been to Japan,
ﬁu made a great speaking point about these facts to convince his listeners of
what he termed "the futility of trying to prove that American citizenship means
anything; we're being treated just like a bwoh of enemy aliens.,” He said on
frequent ocoasions that he had challenged "every WR .A, official I've ever met"
to see if "I'm not justified in my stand and views" and "not a one ever chal-

lenged me; they always w I was ri&t." was quite tm ﬁng?’h}m
adninistrators familiar with case wers, wm

In Augus II after Kurihara hed made several pﬁbli.o speeches which some listeners
considered "subversive™ and "antieAmerican”, one project administrative officer

said he had a talk with Kurihare. "I find Joe Kurihara very bitter about the

entire situation, but he is bitter and sore in quite an American way," was his

observations The Assistant Project Director (Ned-Sempbeil) in a eonv'o’rutl.on

with a group at which Kurihara was not present, gmee reuarked: E;E.J-L.h I
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were Joe Kurihara, I'd be mad too. He was a veteran of the World Var, was
discharged from the United States Army honorably, had done his part as a eitizen.
Tt's just aéke if I'had saved one of you guys from getting stabbed or killed in
a street brawl, and you rewarded me by kicking me into the gutter. Hell,
sure I'd be bitter,”.

Kurihara said he was 48, single, had never married, had #raveled ex-
tensively, and was an accountant by profession. He said that he had been forced
to give up an income in excess of"$650 a month™ in San Diego on account of the

evacuations He did not, however, make any claims to being a man of means or

wealth at all, and once said: ™I don't have a damned cent or responsibility

in the world, personally. I can afford to sacrifice my life for the cause of
leading the Japanese people of lhnnm:r along the right path,s If I should die o
be killed, I know my followers will carry on for ne,"

In appearance, Kurihara presented the impression of an overworked and
overstrained little fat man. (The writer knew him for several years before
evacuation: Under the heading of J.Y. Kurihara, he contributed contributed
unmerous articles to the Los Angeles Japanese Daily News which were published
in the English Section. There was nothing in those articles which I ean re-
call as having indicated any signs of his Manzanar attitudes.) TT
He stood five feet three or four inches in height, weighdéd about 150 pounds,
was pudgy and rotund, an appearance heightened by the fact he was semi=balde
In pre-evacuation days, his address changed frequently, depending upon his work,
but a sedi-permanent residence was listed as "Terminal Island",

Kurihara's personality was not unattractive, and he commanded a
certain ease in meeting people. At lanzanar, his nerves always seemed to be
more taut; his eyes were almost always bloodshét, he went unshaved for days
and a8 & result, inspired friends to jokingly remark that he "looked like a
hobo". His reaction to evacuation was without a shadow of doubt, resentful,

bitter, non-cooperative. His bitterness carried him beyond passive bitterness,
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however; he told his followers and friends that it was necessary to wreak

vengeance. He said he had lost all his sanse of humor (in pre-evacuation

days, he was not known to have a very keen sense of humor despite the fact

he was a fat man) and he was known to go sbout ddily with e grim expression

and said "I never joke, I am a serious man.® His intelligence (in my esti-
mation) was definitely above average, but there is no doubt that bitterness

has clogged his ability to reason objectively in matters concerning the position
of the American born Japanese who had been evacuated.

"I wouldn't 1ift a finger to help the Ameriean government, not a bit,"
he said both to small groups of friends and to large audiences which hc; addressed,
“As far as I'm personally concerned, and I say it as a 100% Japanese, this goddem
government can go straight to hells I'll give my United States citizenship baock
to them at the snap of a finger, The Army put us in here, let the Army do all
the worke They want to work us for §16 a month, well I'm not,™ he once said,

From the day he arrived at lManzanar to the day he was arrested in cone
nection wit h the riot of December 6, Kurihara never worked as a W.R.A. brojoot
employee. He was never on the payrodl, persisted in his stend with determination,

He said: "I'd work night and day and work my head off=-without pay ==
if it were for the welfare of the 10,000 people of lianzenar. I mean the Japanese
people. I would do anything for them, and I only want a chance to prove it, but
if it's for the government, { won't do a damned thing,®

Kurihara's English speech was not without a slight trace of accent;
it was typical of what the Nisei refer to as "Hawaii accent”, but it was good,
understandable English. He commsnded a respectable numerical following among
the younger teen-age and early-twenty Nisei at Manzanar outside the administrative
("white collar") office personnel. Truck drivers in the dispatches division,

food handlers, warehouse workers, rubbish haulers and young men who did manual
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labor comprised the major bulk of his iisei following. Most Nisei of this age
and vocational grouping at Manzanar were wholly or partially attached to their
Issei parents who still were generally recognized as “Head of Family™, Kurihars
made an important point of this relationship and stressed repeatedly the "wvibtue
of filiel piety which is a greet source of strength of the Japanese aspirit
(yemato demashii)",

In this connection, it is interesting to note® that the firat J.A.C.le
group activity, an open public meeting to organize a "Manzanar Citizens FedeSa-
tion" in August, furnished the occasion for Kurihera's ostensible "public® debut
at the Center, In the forum session which was a part of the evening's crganisa-
tion program, Kurihara volunteered to take the floor half a dozen timea to
"oppose any Citizens group which diseriminates sgainst our fathers, I am in
favor of a Japanese Welfare Association to work for the good of all the Japanese

here, because citizenship doesn't meen & thing here.,” His statements were re-

peated with conviction by scoreas of young men in different work divisions the

following weeks, and he was soon regarded as something of a leader and hero
among @& certain element in the Center. Notebly, one "gang” at Manzanar roughly
lebelled as the "Dunber gang" (variously estimated as being a loosely-lnit
group of between 85 and 126 youths in their late teens and early twenties)
looked upon Kurihera as "the man who will solve our future and protect our
welfare,”

Among the Issei Japanese he did not command the same type of peraonal
following, but his point of view waes generally commended. It should be pointed
eut in this regard that there may have been & good number who condemned and op-
posed his point of wiew but who, under the circumstances, felt silence wes the

; wisers
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Kurihara's Japanese speech is average, but he is quite fluent and cone-
Sidered a good speaker. He canmnot read and write Japanese very well, however,
or at least created that impreesion.

He was frequently seen topether with Herry Yoshio Ueno, engaged in
almost daily visits with verious individuals throuchout the Center.

Because he refused %o work oa W.R.A. projects, because he openly
opposed sugar beet furlough by Nisei volunteer workers, because he opposed the
operation of the centeen snd dry goods store (because they're really snother
scheme to impoverish the Japanese people, as he put it,) Kurihers was lebelled
by the element composed largely of office personnel end Hisei close to the
Administration as "a little off" or "a funatic® or "an agin everything”.

Kurihara did not eppear to be secretive about his intentions., As
early as September, he let it be Imown--se it could be repeated possibly=
that he had drewn up & "death 1ist" of marked individuals in the Centere
This "death list" was largely composed of individuals who had been astive in

the Jelhelele or in the effort to form the "Manzenar'Citisens Pedeiration”.

By mideSeptember, Manzanar's No. 1 public secret among the Japenese=spsaking
population was this "death 1ist®, ‘

On Sunday, December €, at the afternoon meeting held at block 22
preceding the rioting, the "death 1ist" was read out over the public address
system which had been conmendeeréd for the ocoasion.

Half the intended victims were no longer residents of the Center,
and the remainder had been forewarned months in advance that they had been
“maglced” .
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n was the second
man** whose name was read off on the "death 1ist"™ over the loudspeaker at
block 22 on the afternoon of Sunday, December €. The Slocums lived at
Block 24, appreximately 260 ygards from the scene of the meeting. The meet-
ing had been called to organize a demand for the release of Harry Yoshio Ueno
who had been jailed the night before as a suspect in the stiack on Fred Tayams,
At 6335 P.Me & mob of several hundred persons ltmdthohrrukmmhd
been occupied by the Slocums. No one wes home, but the mob gained entry inte
the room and left considerable damege.

Slocum was born in Japan of Japanese parentage; he came to the United
States as boy not yet in his teens, was taken in by the Slooum family of Minot,
South Dakote (it might be Worth Dekota, for confirmetion, check other records),
and was adopted into the family, He grew up in & commmity where Japanese were
feus Tie served in the World Wer overseas in France, and as he eddlessly told
anyone vho would listen: "I was the only Japanese sergeantemajor in the
American Expeditionary Force; I served in the same battalion as Sergeant York."

He suffered shell shock and gas injuries in combat duty, received an honorable

discharge, became an active member of the Veterans of Foreign Wars and the
Ameriocan Legione

Before evacuation, he was a civil service employee of the city of
Los Angeles at Ven liuys, California, a job secured, he said, through his
connections with the Legion. IHe is in his middle forties and has been married
the pest sevem or eight years to the former Ayeko Sally Yabumoto of Anthony,
Wew lexico, who, like her husband, grew up in & commnity where Japanese
neighbors were comparatively rare. The Slocums have two children, a boy and
e girl.e It is Slocum's second marriege, his first having been to a girl of

ok
First mon on the list was Fred Tayams.
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Irish parentege ®back in lew York"; this marriege lasted, he said, for about
ten years; there were nc children by ite

Auong those who said they were his friends end enemies alike, Slooum
has been described as an "unusual character". Itilwmtnmthatlﬁ
had more than the average man’s share of enemies, both before and after evac-
uation; and these, it m, were largely emong the Japanese people, Thet he
also had meny friends with whom he maintained contacts, though seldom if ever
socielly, emong “Ceucasians”™ (is the term proper here to denote noneJapanese? T1)
wes elso evidente Slocum had secured his American citizenship through passage
by Congress in 1935 of the Oriental Veterans Citizenship Aet, for which he was
wont to claim singlewhanded credite In this endeavor, he had been financed by
the Japanese Auerican citizens Lesijue partially; his wife befare her marrisge,

and for quite some tim after, was alsoc active in HeA.CaLs works

In the year préceding war, the Slocums had lived Almost completely
apert fran the so-called Japanese commmity of Los Angeless They had gained
the reputetion of being "gquarrelsome, undesireble neighbors™ duwring a brief
period when they had lived in the "35th Strect westdide district" (e'Japenese
neighborhood® centering around West S5th Street and Normandie in Los Angeles).
Slocum figured in bitter personal disputes with members of the Los Angeles J.A.C.L
and dropped out of its activities completely. le had been serving es & menber
ofthAmwmmamdqfthLuAngehnkmmm, fought
with every member of thet group, individually and collectively, suddenly resigned.
From Slocun's point of view, he had fought and resigned from these
sctivities because he was anxious to lead the Nisei ™in the truse paths of Ame
ericanism," while "you hyphenated proeJaps don't seem to understand my wey of
thinkinges" Fromthe peint of view of his adversaries, “Slocun's been gassed in
gassed in the war and doesn't seem to make much sense; besides the Buy drinks
too mich and then gets all excited." Rumors passed about the Japanese commnity
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reflecting unfavorably upon his moral standards, his hebits, his personelity.
Whether these touched him or not, he soon removed himself completely from the
"Japanese commmnity® except occasicnally to meke inquiries of the handful of
contacts (notably one, Ken Matsumoto, in "38 president of the Los Angdles Je
Ao Co Lo and subsequently National vicewpresident) regarding sctivities of
certain individuals.

He was quite active in the Inglewood Post of the American Legion,
participated equally in the Veterans of Foreign Wars. He mainteined en attitude
of open contempt for the Japanese veterans (U.S.Army) group, the Commodore Perry
Post Nos 126 of the American Legion which had been formed in the Little Tolkie
erea. (It might be interesting to note here that Je. Ye Kuribara at one time was
a member in this group)e

In the latter pert of 1940, a fairly well grounded story mde the
rounds of Japanese circles in Los Angeles that Slooum wes turning in information
about his personal enemies to the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the
Navel Intelligence. He had gained the reputation of being & "spy™ and an "in-
former" on his "own people", according to these Japanese versions. Those who
condoned his activity, smong the Wisei, on the ground that he was doing no more
than any loyal American eitizeny should do, expressed doubt as to Slooum’s
ability to judge others. He was considered the “emotional type® incapable of
calm, deliberste, and objective judgment. This evaluation of his capsbilities
seemed to have been concurred in by American Legionnaives who lmew him at close
hende Bob Snyder, former County Comsander of the Los Angeles Americen Legion,

once said: "Tokie's a good boy, but he sometines goea over the deep end, His

heart's in the right place, and he means well, but he loses his temper, then

blooey




His physicel appearance is not impressive; he stands about five feet
four inches in height, weighs about 130 pounds, has a mannerism sbout him that
indicates he is thoroughly scrutinizing the person with whom he is talking,

He strilkes one as being "suspicious™ of "every damned Jap around here; you've
got to be careful”, carrying thia attitude to extremes. He has a sense of
lmmor, however, ead a loud laughe

Bothhe and his wife speak little==almost no=-Japaness. They evacuated
to lianganar with their two children on April 28, 1942, and from the day they
landed to the night they were whisked out of camp under Army escort (at the
height of the riot), they said they were unhappy in their situation and couldn’t
stend the “atmosphere”. They were decidedly "misfits™ in the lianzanar setting.
They were extremely unpopular on their own bleck, having e very limited number
of friends, and these, it appeared, largely out of sufferance.

To go back, when war broke out December 7, 1541, Slooum re-appeared

in L{.ti'.lc Tok#io; he accompanied the F.B.I. sgents who arrested officers and

leading supporters of the Central Japanese Association of America, with head=
querters in the liyake Hotele Slocum had publicly ettacled this organization
as & "nefarious hotbed of subversive activities"; when the wholesale round-up
of its leaders began, condemnation ranging from "inu" (literally “dog", but
meaning “stoolpigeon®) to “witchunter” was generally heaped upon his name among
the Jepanese=speaking element. He wes more feared, however, than he was hated,
emong the Issei generally. Nevertheless, to those who had professed their
loyalty and allegiance to the United States in the event of war, his position
had been vindicated, and he returned to the J.A.C.L. fold more or less a3 &
hero. He wes i-medistely made chairman of the AntieAxis Committee.

w=ifore to Kifes




lanzanar =~ Tanaka Page 33.

The activities which Slocum directed as Chairmen of the Anti-Axis
Committee, in the four and a half months following war's outbreak to evacua=
tion, served to intensify previous feeling egainst him, The widespread
publicity attached to his renewed entry into "public" life among the Japanese
adisd to the distrush and Dy Shed elder Japenese held fmx of hime This
followed him into Manzanare

A glimpse into his personality, and that part of it which led some of
his colleagues to say "he has an utter and complete lack of tact and understanding
of the other fellow's point of view in en ergument” was afforded at a Southern
District J.A.C.L. conference in Santa Ana early in 1942, before evacuation of
Japenese was yet under consideration. Many of the assenbled delegates to the
conference were the sons and deughters of men prominent in Japanese Associations
and had been taken into custody by the F.B.I. Privately, virtually all of these
JeAsCoLemers said they were perfectly willing end prepared to accept the situa-
tion, realizing that their fathers owed allegiance, as eneny aliens and subjects
of Japan, to the enemy; while it was difficult and tragic to be placed in this
situation, they were prepared to do so. Slocup, it was said, was fully cognizant
of this situation. Yet he seized the opportunity at this conference to speak
to the delegates boasting: "I led the F.B.I. over the top when war started;

I Yook them to the ratholes and had them locked up. The trouble with the Nisei
hes been they've been under the influence of their parents too long."

This statement, and subsequent ones in which Slecum sought to put over

the idea of complete loyalty to the national ties--without completely destroy=

ing femily ties=wwere invariebly misunderstood.

“3locum says for us to throw away end ebandon our parents.” "Slocum
wouldn't kmow what parent love is, he never had it."” "Slocum thinks we can
make good Americens by persecuting our perents.” These statements by intellie-
gent Nisei were quite typical of reaction to Slocum's efforts and activities
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as Chairman of the Anti-Axis Committee, and several months later, et lMsnsansr,
when he eagain apoke at the organization meeting of the proposed Manzanar
Citizens Federatione

At Manzanar, rumors that "Slocum is an F.B.I. agent" cropped up as
early as May, 1942, immediately fellowing his arrivel st t he Center. These
rumors were frequently traced to Slocum himself who privately let it be lmowm
emong enocugh people for such circulation that he was in constani correspondence
with agents of the F.B.I. in Los Angeles e&s well as prominent officals in the
veterans groups to which he belonged. He was unemployed at the Center for several
months, apparently devoting his time to "watching", as he himself described his
activities, He was principal speaker at the firsi Memorial Dey observance held
et Mangzanar; on that occasion, he made a plea for "somplete end unreserved faith
in our Commander=in=Chief, President Roosevelts We who are loyal American
citizens are serving on this new battlefroit; and it's a tougher battle than if
we were actually on the fighting fronts.” The speech was well-received by the
listening audience of ebout 1,000 personss Slocum had injected enough in it to
voice the growing feeling among Nisei that a rank injustice had been perpetrated
upon them in the evacuatione

The rumors about Slocu, however, particularly those insisting thet he
wes & “troublemaking snooper and an informer" persisted. He was actually avolded
by his former JeA.C.L. colleagues on the Anti=Axis committee, but this largely
on porsonsl groundss When & dosen JuA.CeL. members in May, 1942, begen holding
weekly meetings to discuss their common problems, Slocum was never invited.
Actually, at one meeting into which he accidentally happened to stumble, members
quietly withdrew, one by one, to another meeting place to liquidate his presence. -
There is no doubt but that Slocum felt the snube He was in the habit of ap=-

proaching these individuals singly, end in confidential manner, whisper his
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suspicions sbout another individual's "pro-Japanese"™ attitude. A common charge
raised by Slocum was: "Bo-and-so's straddling the fence; he's trying to play
both sides. What do you think?"

In June, shortly after the Wartime Civil Control Administration at
Menzanar had been replaced by the War Relocation Authority, Slocum got a job
on the Center Police force as a special investigator. This, and the fact that le
was reputed to be in constant contact with the F.BJd . in Los Angeles, contributed
to the numerous new rumors which were continually popping upe. Most Issei feared
hime The Slocums moved from Flock 14 to Block 24 but found practically no Issei
friends, although they made neighborly overtures and attempted to conform to
their situation.

By August, when the initial trouble over the camouflage net factory
had grown to camp-wide proportions, Slocum privately admitted that he was in
fear for his won life. He took unusual precautions. Whenever a truck or car
approached him, either from front or rear, on one of Manzanar's narrow streets,
he was in the habit of meking a dash to the side of the road and into a fire-
break. He avoided large groups and gatherings in the opens

When the meetings of the Manzanar Citizens Federation were held,

Slocum required police escort for his own safety. In October, when the
linoleun leying for barrack floors was under way, Slocum narrowly escaped
serious injury when, as he was sitting on the steps of the Block 4 Mansger's
office (Earl Yoneda--more sbout him in a subsequent personality sketbh=-TT)
e truck suddenly backed into the doeorwsy and 100 pound reoll of linoleum was

thrown at him. He ducked in time, the flooring cracked under the weight of

the roll., The whole procedure wes "accidental™; but when a linoleum crew
truck backed into the doorway of his own barrack, unloosening the door from
its hinges, Slocum charged that attempts were being made to kill hime "The




Kibei say they are goi g to bury me alive some day,” he said often.
Among the Japanese-spealking population at Mansener, Slocum, more than
any other single persen, was blamed on each occasion that the F.B.I. came into
the Center and departed with an evacuee in custody--due probably for internment.
The fdot that many of the men first errested in Dec. 1941 and sent to
temporary detention camps had since been released or parolled and returned teo
be with their families at lanzanar did not help modify the feeling egainst Slocum,
Meny Nisei even pointed out thet "Slocum said they were spies and helped get
them arrested when wer started. The goverament has investigated end found them
innocent. He's been a f£irst rate witch hunter, and all in the name of his flage

waving patriotism,” (This same wes said of others, Teyama, Togo Tanalm, Joe

Mesaolo, but in lesser degres). IT

As rumors grew and threats sbounded, withdrew more and more from public
view at Manzanar. He never eattended meetings, made no effort to participate in
so=gcelled "commmity activity™s. By Noveumber, there was almost no talk sbout himg
he hed been virtuslly forgotten-~except by the amsll group of orgenized "We are
100%t Japanese” proponents led by Ueneo and Kuriharas

When the rict of December € broke out, the Slocums were second in fol=
lowing the Teyemes out of Mansanar end into the military barracks for their pro-
tection. Five days later, the Slocums were enroute to Anthony, liew Nexico, where
lirs. Slocum’'s parents reside. They had previously applied for the received a
permit for Paloention. Slecem hed already secured & job in Washington with a
federal apency through one of his veterans' contacts, he said, and showed (et
the militery barracks after the riot) a letter which indicated he would receive
e salery of $60 a weeke. He left January 5, 1943 from El Paso, Texas, for
Washington, D.Ce
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Perlontli.ty Sketch lloe 6+

Genji Yamagughi, Naneger of block 15, for a while tem-
porary chairmen of the Block Leaders Council (before the change to Block Managers
was instituted), and chairman of the committee to Oppose SelfsGovernment, was
reported to have been taken intc custody on the day of the Decs. 6 riot as one of
the leading agitators. He was arrested along with other mewbers of o comittee
attempting to negotiate for the release of Harry Yoshio Uenos

Unlike previous personalities covered in these sketches, Yamspuchi is

not @ United States citizen; he is an alien.
(I have little biiographical data on Yamaguchi; heerssy indicates that he is in
his lete forties or early fifties, is married, has one or two children; that
his wife was expecting another baby at the time of his arrest; that he was a
gardener in Los Angeles before evacuation.)

His record in connection with the riot may be of some walue to the
atudy here because he symbolized the only articulate Issei influence in lManzanar
which seemed to grow without any opposing restraints from esmong the people them=
selves. That Yamaguchi furnished ideologiecal stimulants for Ueno and Kurihara
was recognized beyond doubt; the latter two were frequent visitors both at the
block office (13) and at the former's home. At consumer co-operative meetings,
at gatherings to disouss the propesed self-government system, Yamaguchi and
Ueno supplemented each other's positions, made it imown that they stod together.
Yamaguchi's conception of the Manzanar Relocatim Center was explained by him
as follows: ™We here are all in the same boat; it makes no difference whether some
of us are citizens of the United States and others are enemy aliens., The true
facts are that we are all prisoners of war. Furthermore, we are parents and
children, together. We do not have to depend upon the United States government
for our well=being. We are dependent only upon the Imperail Government of Japan.
1f conditions are not as they should be, in our opinion, then it is our duty to

contact the Spanish Anbassador end demand an investigation. If we are mistreated,

Jepan will avenge us after she has won & glorious victory."”
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Yamaguchi was not highly regarded as a man of eny exceptional intel-
ligence or ability by the majority of Issei who knew him, but his willingneas to
speak out, to mssume responsibility, to work for what he said was "the eemen
good of all the Japanese,” his grim seriousness about "our future destiny® led
many to accept him as their leader. Among many Issei, however, there was & come
mon saying that "Any one who tires to stidk his nose out and be & big shot in
e plece like this is & jackass™ or words to that effect. Nevertheless, in all
the activities that preceded the Dec. € rioting, Yemeguchi stood out smong the
I!uiuuamarfyrtothairma; reports from Manzanar since the indident
seem to point to an increase in his stature in the estimation of the people
there. "He did it for our sakes” is heard more often then ®hy dida't the old
fool keep his trap shut?®

In appeerance, Yamaguchi was the “hardeworking Japenese gardener type".
He stood about five feet four inches in height, weighed around 135 pounds, was
fairly solid, dark eonpluioned. His honds were hard, appasrently from gardene
ing worke His voice was unusually high-pitched, a tenor, and on occasions when
he orated (in Japanese always) about the need "for all of us to be more serious
about our future®, he literally shrieked.

He did not, as some Issei did, condema the Wisei for retaining their
loyalty to the United States, although he declared that his owa children would
grow up a3 “true Japanese” (honto=noenihonjin)s He held such Nisei as repres-

ented by the JA.C.L. as "foolish end misled because they do not reslize that

in the long run it will be race that counts. They can never become & part of
America, which was meant for the white man, and the white Americans never will
let them besame a part of this country. Their children will suffer just as ours
are because we did not waeke up in time to realize this,”

However, he accepted the arguments of Hisei leaders such as Fred Tayemsa,
with whom he appeared on fairly good speaking terms and outwardly said he wished
them well.s He said, however: ®You Nisei who are loyal to the United States of
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Ameriea have no business staying in Menzanar. You had no business coming here
utbfnltplm.wmtouwmmmdhrapmtothnF.B.I.!au
should get out of here and do so right away. This eamp is only for those of
us who are prisoners of war. You don't expect to say in here until the wer is
over, then go out and expect the American people to ascept you? They'll ask,
what did you do to help win the war? What can you say? Why, young men your
sges are now giving their lives for their countryl®

¥hen he was told that most Nisei would gladly relocate and intended
doing so, but meny, because of their youth and inexperience were being discoursged
from doing so mainly becsuse of men like himself and the arguments they presented,
he invariebly countered with:

"Well, then why don"t you so-called Nisei leaders get out first? You'we
Just been misleading the younger Nisei: we'll take care of them 8o that they
will have a place in the sun when Japan wins the war,®

Speech: Yameguchi's speaking English was fiir for en Issei, his suditory
understanding of the languege goods He was not at ease, however, in meeting
Caucasians, was more often than not, stiff and courteocus., He lmew enough, howe
ever, _to teach an evening class in Spanishe-or rather conversational Mexican which
he had acquired thromgh personal contacts with Mexicans, He is deseribed by

Charles Ferguson, adult school principal at lMensenar who placed Yamaguchi in the

teaching work es: "not such a good teacher, really, but a guy who tires very
hard and evidently is successful in getting an unususl turnout. Vhy he had
m&mﬂshhﬂt&ntmk;huhmdthnmtmltmnmg
classes,"”

A rumor went about, however, but it was unconfirmed, that the Spanish
classes furnished an opportunity for evening meetings of Yamsguchi's ideologieal
bedfellowss A ban hed been instituted sgainst meetings in Japanese language

following the Kibei meeting (in August or September, check other records for
exact dete TT)
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and most Issei were reluctant to attend any meeting in violation of Center

regulations. It might be pointed out here, though, that the ruling prohibiting
meetings in Japanese was never closely followed,
==jiore t0 loime
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Evacuee Attitudes =

toward Camp Conflicts whieh culminated in the De. 6 rioct:

Fully a month after the Manzanar disturbence in which Harry Yoshio
Ueno, Joseph Kurihara, Genji Yameguchi, and several others branded as "agitators®
were jailed, there was still considerable expression of sentiment within the
Center demanding their release and return to lanzenay,

On the day after the riot, tiwee representatives from each block were
elected--at the direction of the existing block managers® council--to represent b
the "pecple of Mansanar®.. The 108 assembled delegates at their initial meeting
nemed & "Koshdiin® (Negotiating Commitiee) composed of four of their number;
this committee was headed by Thomas Ozamoto, & Hisei of excellent bilingual
capacities, formerly of Los Angeles, who had received his Japanese education
ot Waseda University in Tokyo. This Negotiating Committee undertook as its
first job the pressing of urgent demends upon the Project Director's office
for the "immediate release of Usno, Kurihara and all persons jailed" in the
December 6 disturbance.

An ultimetum was served upon the Preoject Director, Mre. Ralph Merritt,
declaring that the general strike (almost all of the Center's 4,500 evacuee
workers remained at home fearful of reporting to work, for a week after the
incident) would eontinue so long a8 the arrested men were not released. In
the course of the prolonged negotiations, in which Osemblb served as spokesman

for the "people of Manzanaer", demands were presented for "an investigation by
the Spanish Ambessador™, A ecall to Washington, placed by Director Merritt,
brought the Spanish Consul at San Francisco to the Relocation fenter. In the

meantime, Regional War Relocation Authority Director, Es R. Fryer, had flown
into Manzanar. When the Negotiating Coumitteo persisted in its demends for
®outright release® of the Ueno-Kurihars group, Fryer imterposed, declaring to
the Conmittee: "The disposal of their casea (the jailed men) is completely




out, of the jurisdiction of Mr. Merritt; once they are out of Manzenar, the

War Relocation Authority in Weshington hes complste control; if you gantlemen

wish semething to be done, get in touch with Weshington.® (This was the

version of that meeting given to me by Ned Campbell, former Assistant Project
Director who was in charge of the Death Valley Cemp during the firat two weeks. TT)

s motm&mww,/g entire atmmsphers of the
Center remained tense and drawn, with militery police literally at every corner
both within end without, the Negotiating Committee is said by Director lerritt
to have suddenly announced: ™We will pernit all the workers to return to their
jobs and call off the strike if the Spanish Consul tells us to.,"

A meeting between the Spanish Consul and the Negotiating Committee was
held at the Towmn Halle. According to Merritt, the Consul returned from the meet-
ing "completely disgusted with the Committee; they're impossible.” Nevertheless,
Merritt, said, a telephone call was put in to Washington where conversations
ensued with the Stale Department and the Spanish Embassy; the message was relayed
to the Negotiating Commitiee thet the Spanish Ambassador ordered the Japanese to
"eo right back to work and quit raising so much troubles” This information was
coveyed to the Negotiating Committee, which in turn reported it to the 108 block
representatives, Merritt then relates that Oszamoto returned the next day with

the sftatement: "The Issei sre now willing to return to work becsuse they are

ntitf“ﬂntthoﬁp&nhhmm«mmwéoaomw#
the Japanese government, but not the Hisei. They are not represented by the
Spanish Ambessador, they ere American citizens."

Merritt d4id not disclose the nature of his reply to that statement,
but deseribed it as "the height of acnit.hi.ng or another, don't you think?®"

Throughout these proceedings, it wes evident and clear that publie
opinion——that part of it which wes srticulate and expressede-was almost com=
plotely in sympethy with the men who had been jeileds "They did it for ue®
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was the popular and conmonly accepted view. Uenc and Kurihare had been martyrs
for a causewethe welfare of the people of lanzanar, At the same time, there

was little==if any--articulate sentiment on behalf of the score of men and women
who had been taken out of Manganer under military proteotive custodyewthe indivie
duels whose names graced the "death list"™ and the "blecl 1list". These persons
were generally lebelled as "inmu" (stoolpigeons, informers, dogs) who had perse=
cuted their own people.

Without doubt, predominant conversation within the Centerw=or et least
conversation in which people dared to engage--was openly sympathetis to the
errested men, and blame for the riot, for the deaths of two men shol by the
military, for injuries suffered by half a dozen others, for the conditions in
general--was placed entirely on the shoulders of "the dogs who have run away”, re=
ferring to the group taken to Death Valley.

That the latter group, lmown within the Center via grapevine to be
enroute to permsnent relocation on the cuteide, had e minority following within
lisnganer, was evident through a nurber uf-i.gnl._within the three weeks followe

ing the riot, neariy 1,000 applications for permanent pelocation, nearly all of
them Nisei, virtually flooded the office of Walter Heath, in charge of reloce-

tion. Furthermore, not all of the so=called Jef.Cels group had been whisked

out of the Center by the militarye. Kiyoshi Higashi, former Cheirmen of the
Southern District of the Japanese American Citizens League, who had served (and
cmtinues to serve) as Chief of Internal Security at lanzenar, remains at the
Centers On the night of the riet, his barrack room, which he shares with Fred
Tayanma, was entered by rioters, and moat of his belongings were smashed.

Higashi had telen his femily end entrenched himself in Block 9, exclusively
occupied by former Terminal Islanders. (Largely fishermen of Sen Pedro, California
The report soon went sbout the Center that “Higashi has a thousead of those tough
Terminal Islenders protecting him,® The riot steyed clear of Blooksd end 10.
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Hipashi soor began nwimmywhanmnrh&byams.otwm.
Within the week, the report was cireulating thet the ™Perminel Island gang®
was ready to beat up or kill anyone who molested Higeshi or suf unofficisl
list of persons Higashi had pledged to protect.

Just where the division of sympathies between the two extremes (Uenow
Kurihera on one hand, Tayema on the other) smong the 10,000 people of Mansaner
existed on Decenber 8 snd the weels both preceding end following can ohly be
roughly guessed. There is no doubt that the former commanded the majority
following; there is alsc no doubt that this following consisted of the element _
capable of using vislence, whereas the oppesite ape ared 4o be true of the
Tayems following, if it mey be called such.

On December 7, the morning €fter the riot, block mansgers throwhout
the Center distributed 3/4=-inch wide black arm bands, instructing residents %o
wear them constantly “until the funeral® of Jawes Ite, 17, of block 4, first of
the two to die in the shooting by military police at the height of the riote
It was reported that block mangagers at a meeting had unanimously concluded
‘f.hnt Ito's death hed been “for the welfare of the people of lanszanar®, and cemp-
wide mourning was considered advisable., This was also understood smong some
block leaders as & “protest” egainst the “eowardly shooting by the military,

furthering the ,’m;]dltiﬂﬂ against the Japanese.” While cheske-ups $f srus~band
wearers showed differing tallies, depending upon the block (It was almost unanimous
oa blocks 4 and 22), en estimate based on various reports (obtained from 14 '

persons who were in the Center through the weele-Japanese evacuees, not Caucasian
adninistrators), between onc=helf and twoethirds of tho adults throughout the
Center wore the arm bands for several dsys. Of these, approximetely half ape
peared to be complying "out of fear of reprisal or intimidetim®, enly e "amall
percentage” soemed to maise an issue of the armeband, wearing it “sgewessively”

as the block managers generally urged their residentss In some blocks, a nightly
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reminder was sdéd to have been delivered to persons seen during the day without
their arm~bands.

The predominent evacues attitude, either of "neutrality® or pro-Ueno=
Kurihars leanings in the riot may be traced to a statistical basis. A census
check-up made by Arthur Miller, head of the Employment and Personnel Division,

mmt%mimﬁmﬁJw-lmtmmk
Nmiyworhotom-nmgmluowrmmg. of ege at lienszanar.” This

meant that the Japanese-indoctrinated and generally "pro-Japenese” male population

had not only an age end experience adventege over the English=speaking Nisei
group, it had also & decided numbrical edge, et Manzensr. This situation itself,
long before the December 8 riot, had made it inevitable thet control of "comne

mnity” activities (ie.es, the Block menegers' council, commmnity cooperatives,
etcs) should gravitete into the hands of the Jepanese=speaking element, which

turned out to be the cases
== More to Kilies
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AN ANALYSIS of
Contributing Causes of the Mansenar Riot —

The Manzanayr riot of December B, 1942, and probably less serious dis-
turbances yet to come, can safely be traced to beginnings in the governmental
decision for total evacuation on a raciale~rather than individual-=basis,

On this basis, the underlying situation whic h furnished the setting and
ingredients for e riot was unavoidable. Serious thinking individuals within
the relocation center have likened the "mass dumping of evacuees from all walks
and stations of life, holding diemetrically opposing views regarding the war" to
the attempted mixing of "oil and water". The two elements are foreign to each
other,

Over and ebove the government sgancies' apparent failure to recognize
the incompatibility of two conflicting groups within a racial population, the
whole evacuation procedure itself inevitably brought hatred, misunderstanding,
disillusionment, bitternesse, In the final showdown at lianzanar, personalities
ostensibly heading the two major groups at conflict in reality counted for
little——as far as the majority of the people were concerned. It might just
&3 well been that Ueno and Tpyama's positions had been revirsed, so far as
their ideologies, and it would have been Ueno who would have been attacked and
driven out of Mansanar, the scapegoat of an apparent ma jority sentiment,

Efforts of pre~evecustion Je.A.C.L. leaders toncontinue their sctivities
within Manszanar were undoubtedly a contributing cause to the situation which
eventually culminated in the December 6 riot. That the JuA.Cel., and the ine
dividuals who more or less stood impressed in the public mind as representing
it (Fred Tayama, Togo Tanaka, Joe Masaoks, Tad Uyeno, Tom Imai) as & group
enjoyed little-—-if any=-popularity at Manszanar from the outset of the project

is generally conceded. There was prevalent among gmany individuals, perti-
cularly early arrivals at Manzanar who had secured administrative and other

key positions, the fear that the "same J.A.C.L. bunch is going to try to get




lManzanar —- Tanake Page 47.

control of Manzenar and run things to their own liking." This feeling was
quickly demonstrated. None of the so=callied JeA.CeL. group wes ﬁleomod inte
admninistrative or other Jobs; a proposal by & JeA.Cele-er *t;hat ®public speaking
and human relations" classes be started to “cement relations between the peo=
ple and the administrative officers" received a frigid reception. The W.C.C.A,
attitude toward the JeA.C.Le during April and May inspired the group to organise
informally; Fred Teyams was ecknowledged as the chairman, and contacts were
regulerly maintained with "Hational" headquarters of the Citizens League at
Salt Lake City.

During the inkial phese of J.A.C.L. activity (which, incidentally, was
officially recognized, as the administration let it be known that there would
be 'no organized ectivity outside the commmnity services'), members directed
their energies in two general directions: (1) They griped, groused, kicked,
dnd complained about the inadequate housing facilities, food, and crude conditions
in general at the relosation center; (2) they protested sgainst the already-
entrenched Issei control of the Block Leaders’ Couneil, discussing at length
the most effective means of removing such leadership and establishing theme
selves, on the grounds that Issei influence was “"detrimental to younger Nisei
attitudes.”

These activities had two significant results. First, they added ade
ministrative discredit to the alremdy existing burden of unpopulerity on the
deAeCele name within the Center; secondly, they intensified the Issei-liisei
conflict arising out of opposing national ties in & war between the United
States and Japanee This latter aonﬂi.qt was centered in a bitter, persondl

béttle of words and feelings between Fred Tayamsa and Ted Alkshoshi, alien but
father of UsSe citizen childrenes Akahoshi was the first Chairman of the Bleck

Leaders® Council, intended originelly as the selfw-governing body for evacuees,
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Teyema accused Akmhoshi of harboring "subversive" views, specifically that
the latter was sympathetic to Japen in the war. Akahoshi in turn expressed
the belief that anyone in the position of an eveucee in a relocation center
was entitled to hold any beliefs he wished, that one's views on the war should
have no bearing upon one's gualifications to participate in the Block leader's
council; that "everyone in here is in the same boat, end we should all pull
together.” Obviously, in the light of subsequent developments, this "pulling
together" never materialized. Tayama and Akashoshi, to all surface observations
very good friends in pre-evacuation days, remained bitter lianzanar enemies, This
enmity in turn affected individuals whose names had in the past been associated
with each of the principals, and the two "groups" crystallized, not only in each
other's minds, but in the general impression created by camp rumore

In June, shortly after the War Relocation Authority supplanted the
Wartime Civil Control Administration at Manzanar, the jockeying and maneuvering
of the Teysma group @8 egainst the Akahoshi group (represented largely by the
me jority membership of the growing Block Leadera’ Council) was climaxed by a
rumor that the Administration was preparing to summerily remove Fred Tayama and

his family from Manszener because he was considered more or k88 as a "trouble-

meker™. At this time, Akshoshi and his long-time friend, Frederick Ogura,
block Leader of Block 1, were said to have ppid a "friendly" call upon Tayeama,
cautioning him to "keep quiet and not get involved in too many activities be=
cause the Assistant Proﬁ-nt Director Wed Cempbell has werned us that the Ad-
ministration is prepering to oust you from camps" The alleged threat wes
brought out into the open at a Bleck Leaders' Council seasion shortly afterwards
by Joo Masaoks in behalf of Fred Taysms, and Cempbell publicly denied making any
such asserted stetement; Alshoshi and Ogura declered they had been misunderstood
and no such impression was intended. The incident was soon forgotten, but
rumors persisted for several wecks that such individuals as Teyama, lissakla,
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Tanalm, Tad Uyeno (i.es, those linked with the JeA.C.l. group) faced sudden
ouster from Manzanar much in the same amaner that Dre Te. G« Ishimaru hed

been sent from the Santa Anite Assembly Center sometime in May teo the Poston
Relocation Center on l-dsy's notice because he had written (presumably this wes
the cause, sccording to the rumors) a letter to the Secretary of War protesting
sgainst food and housing conditions at Santa Anita.

There is no doubt but that the JeA.CelL. group wes attempting to al=
leviete hardhips and poor conditions et lanzenar, and its individual members
were eincere mbolmmguuymmkingonbahnlfofﬁn evacuses. There
is also no doubt that these motives were misunderstood by the majority of the
Issei within the camp, due in some measure to the unfortunate (from the stand-
point of center harmony and later developments) conflict symbolised by the
Tayeme~hlahoshi feuds

The impression early gained smong the Japanese-spesking pepulation
that the JeACe.L. Wa8 PEksecuting the Japanese people, spying upon innocent
Issei for the F.B.I. (an impression due more to the activities of a single indi=-
vidual than to sny group =—that individual in the estimation of the JesA«lele
group being Tokutaro Slocum), that the JehsCele was, to translate a freguently-
used Japanese expression, "putting a no® e around our necks.®

Severdl months later, when the then Project Director Roy Hash (whose
genersl unpopularity smong the people of Menzenar was the subject of scores
of vicious rumors) snnounced that the Block Leaders Council would be sup-
planted by en Emtod Community Council limited to United States citisens,

a camp=wide mrm arose; it wes directed principally against the JeA«Cele; ita

chief terget was Fred Teyema, its lesser tergets the individuels essociated

with hime
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An administrative announcement explaining that the new propsed
self=-government, limiting elective office in the Council to Ameriean citizens,
wes handed down in an instruetive regulation from Washington failed to mollify
Issei ruffled feelings. The rumor sgain was camp-wide that the National
JeAsColie had been responsible for the "discriminatory” ruling which wes aimed
sgainst the Issei,

This feeling was all the more intense besause the new structure of

propsed self-government in the first place was to supplant an already-existing
body (the Block Leaders Council, which hed been changed to Blcok Mansgers'
Council, and the nature of the jobs changed), end mmd.‘l,y because it followed

the unsuccessful effort by the J.i.Cele group to organize a "ilanszanar Citizens

_ Federation” in July and August. The Citizens Federstion organizers discovered
rebble-rousing opposition in the person of Joseph Kurihera, who had been in

the almost constant company of Frederick Ogura, who in turn had been close to
Ted Almhoshie. All three shared & common dislike and antipathy toward the
JeAeCele in general, Fred Tauama in particular, and took little ptinff- to concesl
these feelinga.

With this 'backyaund,. into which there had been interspersed literally
hundreds of rumors regarding all of the individuals connected with the JeA.Cel.,
it is only a lpginl_ development for Issei aenti.mnt-u-jthct part of it which con-
curred in the views and activities of the Ueno=Kurihare~Yamaguchi group which
more or less assumed active leadership when Ted Almhoshi, epperently “sick of
it all™ resigned in September--to become further solidified when, in October
end Wovember, Fred Tayams suddenly was elected Chairmen of the Manzanar Work
Corps, and Togo Tenaks was elected shairman of the Cammission on Self-Governmente

Both these latter efforts by two individuela assosisted in Menzanar
minds 88 ®JeAeCeLe=ers” were, from the standpoint of objectives attained,
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unsuccessful. Tayama's attempt to carry out the Wi .A. administrative
instructions in the formation of & Work Corps brought him the spirited oppositim
of Harry Yoshio Ueno who instantly began the organization of the “Japanese lMeas
Hall Vorlkers Union®, fighting the Work Corps at every step. A campeign of
slandering ensued with unusuel vigor, even for Manzanars. Among other stories,
Teysms wes represented as having written a letter to General De Witt, outlining
in deteil that e Japanese required only a bowl of rice and a few pickled radishes
to subsist. And meny people in lianzanar who had never met or lmown Teayams,
sincerely believed the rumores (The rumor had no foundation in truth at alls)
Tenake's chairmenship of the Commission on Self«Government wes marked by the
receipt of an eanonymous threatening letter by every one of the 17 Gomnission
lMenberse. The letiers were signed, "Blodl Brothers Who Worry for the Welfare
of the People™. Commission members were blocked at every turn; the campaign
to "explein” the proposed charter through block meetings boomeranged; Sho
Onodera, & Nisei proficient in both English and Japanese (he had received
language education in Japan) reported greater difficulty than that encountered
during the orgenization of the consumer co-operatives. Threatening posters
scon made their appearance on mess hall bulletins; police tore them down, in=
vestigatede Soon there followed new posters calling the police "and any other
dogs who tear these downs” as informers end stoolpigeons on whom proper punishe
ment would some day be meted.

There were half a dozen Issei on the Comnission for self«lovernment,
sineere in their efforts to work for the welfare of the commmnity at large.
That esch went out of his way to shoulder responsibility in accomplishing the

goal of the Commission was recognized by not only the Administrative officers
with whom the Commission consulted, but the Nisei on the Commission; there

wes admireble hermong within the Commission, but not a singel Issei willing or
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able under the circumstances, to assume leadership in facing the withering atteck
characterized by the "Blood Brothers" posters and letters. (See Project Re-
port No. 82) A meeting shortly after the receipt of the threatening letters
discussed the need for further activity., Nisei sentiment on the Commission
favored, more or less, continuance of the Commission, since resignation at
such & time would indicate the members had been intimidated by the ™Blood
Brothers"., Issei sentiment minimized and ridiculed the letters and the "Blodal
Brothers" as the work of cranks, reasoned that "our work is really completed
since we were formed only to do the technical job of drawing up a Charter”, succe=-
eded in bringing about an "honorasble discharge™ of the Commission. It might be
pointed out here that in addition to Tanaka as chairman, Joe lMasaoka served as
secretary of the Commission; both were linked in the minds of the Manzanar
community with Tayama end the Je.A.CoL. The whole skperience in a sense built up
the situation for thinga to pop as they did on December 6,

Another event which has a bearing on the timing of the attack on
Tayama and the riot which followed wes the J.A.C.L. convention held in Salt
Lake City, Uteh in mid-November. One of the conventim 's reported resolutions
pledged the Nisei as willing to volunteer for the armed forces if given the op=
portunity to do so from the relocation centers. That this resolution was seized
upon by the Ueno—hrib:ﬁ;—'!mhi group to arouse intense anti=J.A.C.Le
sentiment in Manzanar was evident everywhere in the Center, and Kurihara was
reported to have gone about various blocks announcing that "We're going to
have another Poston riot here, only it will be a hundred times worse; we are

going to kill all the dogs."

During the same week that Taysms returned from Selt Leke City, of-

ficers of the UeSe. Army appeared at lMianzanar to recruit volunteers for the
Camp Saevage, Minnesota, training center where language experts are being prepared




for overseas duty. Among the 14 (I am not sure whether this was the final
count or not == TT) volunteers were: Karl Yoneda (a San Francisce longshoreman
and CIO union man in pre-evacuation days, who had once run for the State
Assenbly on the Cpmmnist ticket, had been anti-JACL in pre=evacuation period
but shared in Tayama's activities at Manszanar., Koji Ariyoshi, also a marine
worker, who hailed from Hawaii, and who had neen active in J.A.C.L. work at
Manganar, serving as chairman of the organizing meeting for the Manzanar
Citizens Federation, and who had engeged in near-fistiouffs with Ueno, Kurihara,
and others of their group) Fred luto, preminent in Los Angeles J.A.C.L. activities,
but who had remained in relative serenity away from the tension and noise at
Manzanar, and others,

An indication of mounting tension, and a foreshadowing of the stteck
on Tayems which was to follow so soon after, was the attempted essault by une
known persons sgainst Karl Yoneda on the night before he left to join the
United States Army at Camp Savage. Yoneda's wife disclosed that "Karl had o
have police protection all that night." Mrs. Yoneda is of Caucasian parentage;
she is the former Elaine Black and was compelled to seek protection when the
riot of December 6 broke oute She came to the military barracks with her four-
year-old son, Tommy Yoneda, onthe morning of December 7, frightened and excited.
She said: "My God, I thought they were coming after me and Tomy; we just got out
in time, because I saw a large mob gathering on our block. You see, Jimmy Ito,
the boy who was killed last night when the military peli.;o opened fire, lived
just next door to us. I went to express my sincere condolences; the mother was
just erying and wept on my shoulders. I felt so terrible because I Imew that the
neighbors were all more or less blaming Karl and the others for the whole in-
cidant and for Kimmy's death, He was really innocent, everyone thinks, and I

think so too; he was on his way to work in the dispatchers office when the
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orowd attracted him, and he must have gotten in the way of the bullets, I
talked with his married sister, and she said that another borther who is in the
UoSeArmy is coming back for the funerale She took it in this spirit. Sha

said: 'Well, I guess we'll just have to consider that we've given another son
to the Service,' I feel so badly for theme Jimy was shot in the back too.”
(This stetement was made by lirs. Yoneda Dec. 7 in the militery barracks. The
claim that Jimmy Ito was shot in the back was instantly challenged by MP's who
were within hearing distence; severdl declared: "Anyone vwho was in the wicinity
had no business, and no one was shot in the backs' Conflicting versions cone

tinued to be heard; however, the medical officer at the camp during the week

after the riot, a Captain by rank, and a man in whom one would have good reason
to have confidence, told me that Ito died of "bullets which entered his body from
the front and not the backs Thia has not been confirmed bo my imowledge =-TT)

IF WHAT WE HAVE termed 'J.A.C.L. activity' has been a contributing
cauge of the Manzenar situation culminating in the December 6 riot, then there
should also be listed am another contributing cause, "inadequate, ill-prepared
or illeadvised Administrators®.

From the standpoint of the 10,000 people of lManszanar, the constantly-
changing personnel among government administrators was an unsettling factor.
"We get used to one man, feel we have soms confidence in him, the next day he
is gone==and with him all the promises he made. What and who can we believe?" was
the question raised by an evacuee at a block mseting early Iin Junee

That Menzanar from the outset had its share of sympathetie, friendly
Caucasian staff members who early won the friendship and confidence of evacuees
is indicated in the conditions still existént et the Centers But that it alse
had its share of allegedly unfriendly or "misunderstood” Caucasian administrators,
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around vhose heads and persons wild rumors continuously flew, was also demon=
strated,

The important thing to be remembered in this connection is that the
Caucasian administrative staff was tied up in the minds of evacuees as "the

United States Government™, And in the relationships between evacuees and Ade
ministration through the months of April, ey, June, July and right up through
Hovember, that relationship was characterized, from the evacuee point of view,
as "one long series of lies and broken promises.”

For example: "We were promised union wages if we volunteered as
carpenters to help build the Center; we've received nothing for two monthdl®
was & common cry smong over 1000 volunteer evacuees who had been the first to
come to Manganer. “We were told that the hospital would be built before we
arrived; we're living under intolerable conditions!™ was heard frequently by
distraught parents whose children were suddenly taken ill, ™We were promised
schools; our children are idle and getting bad habirs. Our youngsters have
been without school for six months, yet each week the Administration tells us
we'll have schools pretty soonl™ This was from parents of schooleage children,
As winter's severe cold began to be felt: ™When m we going to get plaster
boards for insulation? We'll freeze to death this 'nintar, and the hospital
(it wes built es promised but months late) won't be big enough to accommodate
all the cases.” Before that, a ory had gone up sbout food, about the lack of
linoleum flooring, making life within the barracks intolerable in e dust storms

It should be recorded here that scores of other such cases furnished

ample fuel fibr discontent and a growing resentment sgainst the “govermment® for

the crudity of living conditions and the constant lack of facilities and harde
ships endured by evacuees in the initial months.
It should ;Ilo be recorded here that physical facilities had been
improved by the end of November to the point where most ovacuees admitted thet
" conditions here aren't so bad at all® (referring to housing end food usuwally),
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but the memory of broken promises had been etched deeply enough to have produced
acmne:prnuonmuptmctothomtlnt'ﬂnmdotthﬂn.‘..w
States government isn't worth a demm,®

This condition, in the estimation of the writer, was due largely to
the fact that administrative perscnnel wes changed so often at Manzenar; that
nmmm,twnm:&aﬁohquhtprudngm& for action on
one hand by the evacuees, and stumped by wartime priorities and difficulties in
obtaining materials and other supplies, freguently gave way to wishful thinking,
made promises which were impossible of .mmm. raised hopes undily, let
the eveouees in for a terrific letdown; this process repeated several times
over, and frequently in cases where the adninistrator ﬂm had made the promise
was no longer at the Center, contributed to a general breskdown, particularly am
mong tho Japanese-~spealing element who had less epportunity to get a creditébdle
explanation, of confidence in the Ssucesian Administration es ™working for the
welfare of the 10,000 evacuees.,” It goes almost without saying that had the
Caucesian Administration at lansanar enjoyed generally a greater measure of
confidence, the opportunity for the Issei-iiisei conflict to widen so rapidly and
heatedly would not have been so great. But under the circumstances, it soon
becams exiomatic around the Center among a section of the Japanese-speaking
population that the "ifisei who are close to the Caucasians are working sgainst
use" The breach also resclved itself into a dividing line, more or less, of
opposing sides in e racial war, in the minds of these older Japanese; the
Wisei who chose to cooperate with the Caucasians were traitors to their Japanese
race and deserved to be condemned. The-ro were constant reminders that “this is
& race war to liberate the colored races from the domination of the white yoke.
The Japanese who mingle with Ceucasians, who want o help and aid the Adminis-
tration, are serving as tools to perpetuate the supremacy of the white mene"

The fact that Manzenar had its own "color line" (i.e. the Ceucasian Administrative

staff quarters were in cresme-colored barracks with good household equipment, as
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contrasted with the ugly black ter-papers barracks of evacuees--and these
were all within very short distance of each other, visible to everyone; for
a while, Ceucasian administrators ate in mess hall 1 where they were served
steaks at tables at which they were waited upon, while esecross the aisles,
evacuees ate beans. This practise was soon discontinued, however).

Several Caucasian staff members, of ddep religious convictions and
anxious to sincerely assist the evacuees in their situation, admitted privately ¢
that there appeared to "be some confusion as to exactly what administrative
policy is in regard to our mingling with you fdiks." The fear was held on the
_one hand that by living too closely with the evacuees, the charge that they
were “fraternizing with the Japanese™ might be raised.

Probably more than Administrative personalities of themselves, the
policy==or rather lack of policy--under which the Wartime Civil Control Ad-
ministration first end the War Relocation Authority afterwards sought to

manage the Center contributed to the uncertainties constantly raised in the

minds of the peoples These all added up into creating a constent fear of this
thing or fear of that thinge The mental condition of the collective populetion
of lManzanar had never been given an honest opportunity to recuperate from the
shock of evacuation itself. A neurosis had set in, and this condition had
been constantly irritated by the factors desoribed in the foregoing. It was
& constant source of wonderment to the writer that less than half a dozen ine
dividuels had been taken out of Mansaner by the end of Nevember to the psyco=
pathic ward of the Los Angeles General Hospitale
(Morton: Do you want inclusion of Administrative personalities,
their history at Mansanar, from the standpoint of evacuees there, ine
cluded in this assignment? If so, please Send instructima; I am
omitting it here end going on to the next contributing cause, because

this report is g etting ewfully swfully long; you will have to over-
look style, grammer, etc. s not tooc much attention hes been paid in

that directione ==TT)
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AN IMPORTANT CONTRIBUTING CAUSE of the Manzansr riot otnoomber-s

was not so much what was done or committed, but rather it was what wes negw
lected and not dones And that, according to a point of view which gained cone
8iderably among Administration circles and the Nisei element in camp, was the
failure of the W. R.A. to speedily detect and rémove those who later engineered
the essaults and rioting.

‘ "liollycoddling® of ex=convicts (and Manzaner's population has these
individuals running loose among individuals of exactly the oppoaite type of
character, upbringing, background, end tempersment), lexity of reguletions,
failure to punish offenders inveolved in acts of violence, failure to penalise
obvious and openly defiant "anti-Americen" sgitators run consistently through
the chronicle of Manzanar's so-called "hoodlum” activity from the beginning
of the Center throuch the week of the unfortunate riot.

= llore 0 Kuli ee=
on same phase
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AN ANALYSIS of Contributing Causes of the Manzanar Riot (Continued)

It was generally lmown at lianzanar among Hisei employed in Administra-
tion jobs that a conflict of opinion and attitudes divided sdministrative of-
ficiels over the handling of the “heodlum" eand "ruffian™ elements. One school
of thought advocated severe messures. Thefts, burglaries, and asseult end
battery=-usually comitted by e small number of "repeaters"=eshould be punished
by trial in courts outside the Center and punishment meted according to county,
state and federal lawesthis group advocated. The Pelice department (Internsl
Security), wnder its first chief, Kenneth Horton, streaucusly sought to have
this done. The other school of thought, however, advocated less severe measures,
invarisbly stopped short of punishment demanded by those who said "we're treat-
ing the roughneck element too easily,”

Vhatever these differences among administrators may have been, the
fect mas that until the riot of Deceuber 6, evacuee attitudes toward posaible
punishment for orimes committed within the Center were those of open contempt
and ridicules The few "trials" held before a constantly changing "Judicial
Comnittes” had not materially increased respect for law and order. Being held
in the Manzanar ®3jail”, moreover, failed to attach to a culprit the stigma
found in normel outside communities. Laxity of administrative officials in
maintaining respect for regulationa gave impetus to the growth o« “pangisn®,

a situation best deseribed by the faet that the resident Bhio_t of Internal
Security, heading & force of 100 policemen, once said: "Those Blood Brothers
don't dare ettack or lay hands on me; they imow that the whole Terminal Island
gang atends behind me and will back me to the limit.” When the Decerber € rict
broke out, this men did not rely onthe police force which he directed; he took
refuge and found protection in Mensaner's “Terminel Island”, The fact that this
protective group itself was a “gang" in the most frequently used sense of the

word indicates the general ebsence of preventive machinery working sgainst an
outuukatmuréerwohuth-m&riuh. (For more on "gangs" see

Project Report Nos 82 dated 11/11/42 at Menzanar).
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Failure to curb lawlessness--a sin of emission which embeldened
sgitators such es Ueno, Kuribars and Yamsguchi to organize and incite openly=-
was on seversl occasiona due to unfortunate departmental and personality clashes
among Caucasian administrative personneles For instance, when Roy Nash beocame
Project Director in June, he inherited a large number of Wartime Civil Control
Administration staff employees. Chief of Police Eenneth Horton was just one of
these., From the start, personsl relations between the two men were anything but
®sordial®™. Nesh was personally inaccessible, both to his administrative ceol-
lesgues and to evacuees; but the relationship between Hash and Horton was partie-
ularly strained, ending in a situation where the latter was actually ignored and
barred from adninistretive staff meetings. This had one significant result:
the effectiveness of police work wes nullified almost completely; osyses which
were ordinarily uvnder police jurisdiction were summerily taken out of police
handse The effect of bickering esmong Caucasian departmentel heads had registered
on the evacuee population as early as June=wand unfavorably. As one administrate
would speak disparsgingly or oritically of another, rumors started., In a sense
interdepartmental discord offered opening wedges for the later rumor-mongering
so effieciently and systematically carried on by Ueno, Kurihara, Yamaguchi.

Administrative inaction==or rather wacillation--in dealing with early
offonders of Center regulations apparently led to the same policy in the hande
lingeeor rather failure to handle==the Ueno=iurihara~Yamsguchi group whose
openly defiant activities grew throughout the months of September, October,
Hovenber e

To the credit of the WR .A, administration during these months, it
should be mhd that the leniency cccorded the openly anti-American citizens
such as Ueno and Kurihars was due tc the apparent belief that a policy of non=
repressive measures would, in the long rua, win outs It was reasoned that the
true spirit of American demooracy could best be demonstrated to individuals
such es Kurihara and Uene by the goverament taking the attitude that these
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individuals were not to be persecuted despite their views whioh were admittedly
and openly detrimental to @ nation at war. In the opinion of the writer (and
these are purely his own personal cbservations), this was an unfortunate miscel-
culation on the part of the liansanar WR.A,. mm:-. Both Useno and
Eurihare, despite their American eitisenship, despite their professed former
UeSe loyalties (in Ueno's case, this is doubtful, but not so in Kurihara's),
both had projected their mental processes into tho Japanese pattern of thinke
inge They had lost any objectivity they might have once retained. They under-
stood but one langusge-=force; and failure of the WR.A. to spply forceful
measures was, without o shadow of doubt (I am convinced to this becouse of

lengtly conversations with both men) talen by both @s a sign of weakness and

inability of the goverament to do anythings Both men once said:"We will be
tronted all right, mind you, because we are Japanese, and Japan is winning this
wor; snd if we-ere nbt treated right, after Japan wins the are, cur mistreatment
will be avenged; even now Japan holds many meny times more prisfoners of wer
and ‘the Ameriean government doesn't dare do enything to us,"

The Ueno=Kurihara~Yemsguchi group which was finally arrested by the
militery is being blemed @s the llos 1 cause of the riot by the W.R.A. Adminise
tration fully as mich a8 the majority of the people of lManzanar appesr to blame
the Tayama=JeheCoele group which hed to be removed to Death Velley., As of this
date, it is interesting to note two differing enswers to the queation: ™How do
you think the liansenar riot could have been avoided, if you feel that it was
not ineviteble?® The reply smong & good section of people in Mangenar, pearti-
cularly the Japanese-speaking element, today would be: ™The W.R.A. should have
removed the Tayams=J.A.Cele agitators long ago; then we wouldn't have had this
trouble.” The snswer given unanimously by the "refugees” at Death Valley: “The
Administration should heve taken out those proe-iAxis agitetors like Ueno, Kurihara,
end Yemeguchis" These assertions, of course, are debatabls, depending upon the
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circumstances and point of view of the debaters, sad further discussion here
serves no ende

It is & matber of pure speculation, moreover, that removel of the
obvious pro=Jupan and pro-iAxis individuals by the W.R.A. would have corrected
the underlying situetion which provided the administration at lanzanar with an
elmost "impossible” jobe (It is my own personal epinion that arrest of Ueno,
Kurihera and Yamsguchi at en earlier date, ssy October when they becams Pirst
active, would not have necessarily prevented anm eventual riot, Others would
heve taken their places, for these individuals end their activities appear to
me to be the products of conditions and circumstences within the relecation centers

_mm&mmmanﬁmvulqmmugsmmmmu

this problem do nct concur with me in this opinions «=1T)

(ly principle remsons for holding the ebove view spring from feelings
I have personally experienced inthe lansanar Reloscation Center. I cannot see
how it is possible for any humanbeing of normal fmpulses to be cooped up within
the limited confines of barbed wires, watchtowers, and all the atmosphere of
internment and not be touched by the bitterness, disillusiomment all arcund
him, There appears to be & tregic tendency on the part of a large mumber of
Nisei within the Centers to conform to their surroundings; unconsciously,
sympathies are channeled inte directions already taken by the leadership elements
within the compewthe Japanese-speaking, active pro-Japan individuals,)

PEREAFS NOT A CQNTRIBUTING CAUSE, but at least a fector in creating
the atmosphere and setting for the rict at Manzaner wes the obvious inadequacy
of existing mediums for the disseninetion of information, lansenar hadeesnd
perhaps still hase-a curious system for conveying information ot its residents,
On the one hand there are the Maazanar Free Press (in both English and Japanese)
and the information service; on the M.r hand tle Block Managers, through their
council sessions and their contacts with residents. The Free Press--information
service both ostensibly end metually represented the Administration
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(WeR.A. Manzenar) point of view, voiced sentiments reflecting that represent-
atione The Block Managers ostensibly did also, but actually were more often

at variance in their interpretation of the Center news than not. This ereated
en interesting situation. A Center regulation would be announced, for instance,
in the Free Press, In cases where it was not popular, the Block Managers were
given the added job of interpreting and emphasizing the snnouncement et their
meetings; these meetings were invarisbly in Japanese. Cases were frequent

where the Block Menagers would join in the general denunciation of the regula=-
tion. The Free Press would sublimely praise it, explaining at length its mebits.

Probably more then these peculier circumstances the personalities as-
sociated with the Center's information division played en important part in the
almost-universal lack of respect and confidence--within Manzanar--for the Free
Press. It should be recorded here that the publication, as & newaspaper, was
more popular and well received by the younger Nisei element, in the late teens
and early twenties brackets; but even among these, the influence of elders was
noteworthy, and in its best days, the camp newspaper enjoyed a numericel minority
following of sympathizers.

The first editor of the lianzanar Free Press was Tomomase Yammzaki,
formerly of Los Angeles and Sen Francisco, an alien Japanese by birth, but raised
in the United States and equally proficiant in both langusges. (Yamazaki is
smong the Death Valley refugees and is due to leave soon for the Univerddty
of Colorado at Boulder where he has been accepted for a teaching position.=-TT)
Yemazaki quit his job to be a Block leader, from which position he later resigned.
When the Free Press became s thrice-weekly printed (it had formerly been mimeo-
graphed) tebloid edition, its editor wes Chiye Mori, formerly a cosemtologist
and domestic worker from Los Angeles, who had been a contributing writer for
several Japanese vernacular newspapers. The Japanese section of the peper
included on its steff; James Oda (e former Los Angeles Kibei who had been &
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fruit stend worker and union advocate who, in pre-evacuation days, fairly or
unfairly, had enjoyed the reputation smong the Japanese as a "Commmnist®., The
same had been true of Yemeszaki and Miss Mori, slthough, in my opinion, these
charges were exaggerated and typical of the close~knit pro-Tokyo sympathiea of
the Japenese cormmnity in pre-wsr deys.-TT) Satoru Kemikews, (a former Los
Angeles gerdener whose journslistic endeavors had ended with writing for a
Gardeners' Monthly bulletin); John Sonoda (former Los Angeles insurance sgent
whose beating #n the Decs 6 riot has been covered in en earlier personality

sketch); Choyei Kondo (en educated Issei Japanese, formerly of Los Angeles, who

was respected and popular among the Nisei but apparently not so smong the Issei).

From the outset, the Free Press, as a canp orgen was confronted with a
dilemma. To truly represent the people of lMangzaner, and to function as a re-
presentative spokesmen for their views, it almost necessarily had to be anti-
Administration in most of its views. The fact thet the publication went outside
the Center and served #s & public relations medium made this impessible even
had the administretive officisls in cherge been willing to permit such a sit-
uation, which they apparently were note

The publication also drew over its head added ebuse in the vicious
personal attacks in the form of rumors current throughout Manszenar about its
editor, Miss Mori, twice a divorcee and adnittedly living, without benefit of
clergy, in the same berrack room with her slleged third, @ George Kurate.

Both had been appointed by Roy Nesh on the original Commission on Self Govern=-
ment, and in the newspaper announcement of the appointments, listing the names
end address of Commissioners, Miss Mori had permitted on several occasions the
publication of her own name and lire Kurate's with the same address, despite
the fact it was known that they were not married., In the confined querters of
Menganar, where gossip reaps & bumper crop every midafternoon, these news
stories furnighed waging tongues with lubricents to last & good week. It was
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rumored that liss liori had left her last husband, a serious tuberculosis case,
penniless in the Hillcreat Hospitel while she went galivanting about with her
new boy friende (This and & score of other rumors which went bounecing from
latrine to latrine were never checked or repeated by the writer, but for purposes
of the study, they are included here because they are a minor part of the whole

picture, == TT) The presence of liiss Mori's first husband in the Center, and
the fact that, sgain married, he was opealy scornful of her snd rabidly outspoken

sbout her, did not aid the situation.

wmmijore to Kulmes=
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Eye-Wiitness Accounts of ithe Decenber 6 liass Meetings

Moba which participated in the December € riot at Manzenar first ase
Serbled at two mass meetings held in the afternoon immediately following lunch,
and in the evening after an early dinner, on the west end of bloock 22,

It &8 e generally established fact that both the noon and evening
meals at alle=or nearly alle- 36 blocks' mess halls were advanced 30 to 45 minutes
~this wibhout administrative lmowledge--for the purpose of making possible
greater attendance et the meetings. Word of the mess meetings were conveyed to
chefs and foremen of kitchens on the morning of December 6.

Eye-witness acouunts of what transpired st the two meetings offer con-
flicting and even contradictory versions s far as details are concerned.

George Fulmsawa, & member of the Center police force, had been as-
signed to "cover® the block area to report “possible disturbances”. Fukesawa
is @& Nisei, in his midethirties, married, the father of two children, formerly
resident of Santa Monica. Mild of menner and inclined to avoid trouble if he
could, Fuknsawn nevertheless succeeded in having his name placed on the black
1ist of the Ueno-Kurihara=Yamaguchi group because of his police service.
Paysieally, he is slight, standing ebout five feet four inches in height and
weighing ebout 126 pounds; he wears glasses. When, in his own words, the
"domned agitators began getting excited and almost hysterieal in their speeches,
I began to feel uncomfortable and left the place to report back to the station
that things were getting out of hand," This was at the afternoon meeting which
began immediately after dishes had been cleared from noon lunch tebles in mess
hell 22, Fukasswa's recollection of the meeting, given on the day after the
riot, was as follows:

"7 arrived after it had already started. I should have, but didn’t know
a1l the men who spoke; but everything was said in Japanese. The whole keynote

of everything thet was said boiled down to a demand for the release of Ueno who

they said had been unjustly srrested the night before for the attack on Fred
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our necks; he said he had definite proof that Tayama was a stoolpigeon (an inu)
of the FuB.I. and thet it was sbowt time the people of Msnzaner got up in their
righteous indignation and did something sbout it. He announced very dramatically
in Japanese that he wes prepared to lay down his life for the sake of the people,
"Before I could grasp exastly what the purpose o the meeting was,
beyond being another gripe and complaint affair, there was the announcement in
Japanese that & Negotiation Committee (Koshé=iin) had been formed to go down
to the Administration and demand of Mre Merritt (the Project Director) immediate
release of Harry Uenoe In the formation of this commitdee, I recognized the
prominent part taken by Genji Yamsguehi who made & long and eloguent talk, He
demanded an immediate investigation of the terrible conditions at lMansanay by
the Spanish Ambassador, called upon the people of Manzanar to rise up and get
rid of the troublemskers and dogs (inu) among their own number, Tension mounted
and a large crowd began gathering at the entrance, windows, rear, front, and

all the doors to the mess hall, A loudspeaker system, where they got it I don't

inow, was set up, and the proceedings within the mess hall were carried into
the firebreak where the crowd kept on assembling. Inside the mess hall were

representativea from most of the blocks which had been contacted through the

block mensgers; it seems each block mensger had been instructed to send these
representatives to the afternoon meeting.

"During the meeting, several tiies, different persons got up and shouted
that there might be some stoolpigeons (inu) in the mess hall and that a cheek~up
should be made to get them oute Two other fellows (I don’t know who they were)
were hustled out of the place before things began getting so uncomfortable that
I left.”
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Huwwe Yowes i an alien and resident of Manzanar whose identity here
is not disclosed, as I feel he would not grant permission to use his name. He
is still et Mensaner, intends to repatriate to Japsn et the earliest oppertunity;
he is in his middle forties, s former resident of Glendale, Califarnis, where he
was employed &8s @ gardener and nurserymen; his wife is & United States citizen,
Kibei, speaks primerily in Japenese, understands English; she is in her hte
twenties; dhe couple have two children, ages gix and 10 months. (It should be
pecorded here that this individual and the writer remained on excellent terms

as fellow evacuees of the Center despite opposing points of view regarding the

war. In long and interesting exchanges of opinion, this man revealed his back=
ground, his hopes, plans, fears. His case, however, is not necessarily typical
of Issei of his age or previous ccoupation)e TTs Hew=w Ywe-- said he had
attended the afterncoa mesting st mess hall 22 "not as an official representative,
but a8 an interested spectator only. It was wery exciting and ended rather
dangerously, I thought. There is no doubt what the majority sentiment of the
people is; they want lir. Ueno released from jail; they are convinced he was
fromed and wrongly sccused by lr. Tayama shose accusation is believed to be

only enother of & 1ist of bad things he has done egainst the Japanese, The
plmmorubditthxmlﬂwabmmmhmmthemllnll,buttho
Wmhﬂd;weuthﬂobunmathmd,whhothom
people on the cutside. ﬂwyhmogmmdtum&ttuﬂehhpmdsou
-mthingt—ﬁntutogctthnom&jnu. 1f this is not done, then the com=
mittee is going to raise & lotof troubles This afterncon some speakers sven
seid they would do & lot of killing tonight unless Ueno was released.”

(At this point, it might be added here that the writer, having &
pummmtmﬁufommmﬂm, inquired if his owm
neme hed been mentioned at the afternoon meetinge All of this conversation,
incidentally, was in Japanese. mmme'b,mmm'tmm«d
ymnmyd,mttbymgongtommmm.mw,l
thhkﬂnyuu,mm‘tuhtermﬂmgmwdw,
mdlnuornmmww;ywnmmm Yours end Joe

Massoks were almost always mentioned together; he's in Selt Leke, but everyone
doesn’t seem to lmow that; they say you two topether cooked up @ lot of things
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which were against the Japanese people while you did your reporting here at
Manzanar; they said your historicel work wes just a camouflege for F.B.I.
stoolpigeon worke You lmow, I've tried to wara you in the past, and I still
want to help you, although I think you are on the wrong side for a Japanese
as fer as this war is concerned. But you had better keep your door locked
tonight and don't snswer, no matter who comes arcund.)

B e is slso an alien and resident of Manganar whoase

identity is likewise cloaled, not because I feel he would not grant permission
to use his name, but beceuse it would be & breach of confidence to reveal his

neme., He is in his early fifties, a very religious person (of Buddhist faith)

formerly e restaurant operator in a Southern California city, the father of
five children, all ot them American sitizens, and the eldest s Ilisei with strong
convictions that all Nisei should remain steadfastly loyel to the United States,
This man was employed in a mess hall and atiended both the afternoon and evening
meetings on Decenber €6 as lropruonﬁt:lu of his mess workers. In Japanese,
he related:

“The afternoon meeting served to fire up the men with great zeal, Neny
speakers said that Harry Ueno was being made & goat by the Adninistration because
he had exposed the sugar fraud and had sacrificed himself for the people of
Manzenare They said that Fred Teyama was in on the plot and had not been hurt
at all, but his injuries were a part of the frame-up; that is what speakers
said, anywaye I don't lmow what the facts are snywey, but it looks like a
terrible lot of trouble. lany people, and some of the speakers said that
this frame-up was predicted in advance by Kokkuri-Sen (for seversl weeks pre=
vious to the riot, residents were reported to be indulging in telbe-lifting
seances in the dark, something on the order of Ouija boards, getting answers
'yes' and "no' to all sorts of guestions; that meny people placed a good deal
of credence and faith in Kokluri-San "Ouija Boerd" was recognized by many)e
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One speaker said that lir. Sasaki on Block 36 who was suddenly, and without more

then one-day's notice, teken out of camp to be sent to Tule Lake, (this had

happened several weeks previocusly) had been & scapegoat of the Administration's
sugar fraud and that Ueno was anothers I personally don't think the Administre~

thon, or lir. Winchester or lire Campbell were stealing money by giving out ohly
seven ounces per person rather then the ration of eight ounces. But at least
that's what they were saying at the afternocon meetinge A lot of other things
were also brought out et the afterncon meeting. It was decided, more or less,
because there wasn't any oppesition heard at the meéting, that unless the Ade
ministration released Harry Ueno thet night, the mess hall workers would all go
on & strike the next day, nobody would get anything to eats I think this is
ridiculous myself; why should the women end children be made to suffer on this
account, no matter how innocent or great a person this Ueno might be. It's
just putting the noose sround own own necks. There are some cooks, I know, who
will refuse to follow crders for any general strike; the Blocks 9 and 10 chefs
(rmnma)mmm'am&.mmuu1muh-nclmd
down; lir. Herry Tsyema who is chef at blook 24 didn't even atiend the mass
m,mmmlymm-mm;mmsremmwmm
every mess hall who are sympethetic to the demande

"The evening meeting was mich worse. They're coming out to get & list
d'nbmrtlﬂorll,lm'trmnbordlﬂnirmﬁw‘ommﬂmm
seversl times over the microphone, I don't know the man's neame who made the
speech and began celling off the names, but he was short and bald end fat (a
reference fitting of Joseph Kurihara) and terribly execited. The first name
ealled off to be killed was lr, Baysms., They said that the hospital should be
mmm.wmmmmwmmummmcatonhuo
lire Ueno, and that the Negotisting Committee had gotten no place at all with
Mr. Merritt. The speakers were also excited @bout the soldiers who had been
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drawn up by the police station and said that as true Japanese "we should not be
afraid to die in this cause @as our brothers are gying for justice and permanent
peace and the new order in Asia™, Most of the talk, though, wes sbout the "inu"
(stoolpigeon) activities of the men on the "death 1list",. The second name was
lire Slocup, and after him I heard Kerl Yoneds, Koji Ariyoshi, James Oda, then
your neme (Togo Tanaka)., After yours came Joe liasaocks, and several others which
I don't remember., I don't think you should stay in jiour house tonight, it's too
dangerous; your wife and baby can come to mine,"

(I should note here that an almost verbatim mecount of this man's
conversation was taken down at that time, 6:45 P.M. Sunday; five minutes later
I was out of the barrack, disguised, and I should confess, ermed; 15 minutes
later, a mob of about 100 persons came surging to our barrack door; they did
not knoek; they ripped the door open, breaking the hinge on which & lock had
been placed from the inside; my wife, baby, parents-in-law, and father were
inside; I was in the mob, at the rear, taking the situation in, and wondering
whether I should live to see the dawn, I had just gone to Block 32, about 1560
yards sway, to & friend's place where I had borrowed exira clothing and weepons,
just in time to ;om the mob enroute from the Hospital (where it had unsuccessful-
ly sought Teysme). There was much ¢ mversation in Japanese as the mob siraggled
along, picking up newcomers along the way. I judged over two-thirds of those
in the mob to be curious spectators, more or less; I recognizéd several young
men involved in earlier hoodlum sctivities in the gang known as “Dunbar". The
mob seemed to have about 10 men who appeared to be ringleaders. (It should be
pointed out that this was one section of the mob which hed firat gone up to the
Hospital, then split in two, one heading for the police station, the other to
kill others on the death 1ist). When the apparent leaders of the group arrived
at ny berrsck, 36-12-1 and ripped open the door, half a dozen forced their way
into the roome The scene that ensued is recorded here to the best of my aebility
because it may have some valwe in documenting attitudes and frame of mind of the

rioters:
All the conversation was in Japanese, and the milling ebout and searchig

within the barrack lasted for 16 minutes. Shouts of "we're going to kill him
this time" were heard three or four tiims by individusls in the mob outside (who

were within arm's resch of me st the time)s The first to speak was my father=

in-law, Kengo Tekeamura, en elien, 48, who remains at Manzanar wntil such time

es relocation is made possible for him. He asked what the intruders wanted.

"We want Togo Taneka; we're going to kill him; turn him over %o us,” was the

replye.
"What for? What is the reason for your coming here and asking for
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"He is & spy for the F.B.I. and has been turning in informetion sbout

the Japanese here. We have definite proof that he is ean "inu',"
"Do you have that proof? Show it then.”
"o, we don't have the popef} but we can get it,.”
Atthiq point, my father turned to the spokeaman for the goup and

"What is your name?™

‘B.B."

"Ben whati®

"Ben Kishi."

(I 4id not know this individual, remember having met him but once in
connection with a documentary report on drams activities at Manzanar very
brieflys He is in his thirties, a Kibei, married, father of one child, socord-
ip to hearsay information I later gathered. He was involved in one Manzsnar
court trial on an sssault and battery charge, had been asquitted; he presided
88 chairman at the firat Kibei meeting which had prémpted former Project Director
Roy Nash to suspend all large meetings in the Japenese lsngusge. For a while he
had headed the lManzanar Drama groupe Beyond that I lmow little of him, except
rumors since picked up at Death Valley but largely unconfirmede) == TT

My fathereinelaw interrupted:

"Do you personally know about these ssccusations sgainst Togo?"

"No, but #e have orders to kill him; we have decided to sacrifice our
own lives if necessary to kill the "imus" in lianzaner who are responsible for
all our troubles.” |

"Is his Documentery historians work the cause of your wanting to kill
him? There must be some misunderstand nge. See that file there. My soneine
lew has always said to me that if there should ever be sny question as to what
he had done or is doing in his work here, I should refer anyone to those files
which contain everything he has done heres, (o ahead and look and satisfy youre
self. Togo does not believe in some things, and one of them is to betray the

principles for which he stands; he is not an "inu" and you yoursaaf sey you
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have no proof with you. I doubt you will ever find it, because there isN't
any, but go ahead and look through the files,"

"o, we haven't time, just turn him lome, wherever you have him
hid den,"

A%t this moment, one of the men who had entered the room, cerrying a
wooden club, moved toward the closet in the eorner. A man in the mob outside
shouted:

“If he's not in, let's kill his wife and baby, or his father will do.
Kill the father of the 'inu'",

My mother-in-law, pale and tense, stood and shouted through the door:

'Hauroywm'hnntnoldms?molm If you're

8o brave a8 to do that, kill me in his place,”

One of the men within the room went to the doorway, raised his hand
and said slowly:

“The wife and baby, the father, the relatives of Togo Tanaka are not
the ones we want. It is regretsble that they should bave to bear the misfor-
s A Nalolg 200000d %6 o3 et Thay are ok 46 50 Seiibbl. Be ant only
one person, no one else, do you hesrt™

The man who had started for the closet sat down on the edge of the
bed, looked under it, then spied a small photograph on the desk in the corner.

He called the others in the room, and said:

"Here's his picture; this is what the dog looks like. (It was a
small snapshot of ny wife and I teken on our honeymoon)e The men serutinized
it carefully for a full minute, passing it sbout. Our beby, who is 11 months
old, had started to ory, and my wife was holding her in her arms,

"Even an 'Inu' hes babies,” one of the men remarked in Japanese, I
observed the tense snd drawn expressions on the older folks (my father and

parents-in-law) in the room.




Three times during the 16 minutes (I always wear my wrist watch) I
was almost certain that developments would compel the disclosure of my identity,
but no one seemed to recognize me; I knew almost no one and wive- versa,
despite the fact my name was on everyone's lips.

The crowd began to spread out; by 7:16 the ringleaders left the
barrack with the warning "we'll be back" and the mob started scross the fire-
break, apparently headed, according to conversation, "to get Tom Imai; he's
over in block 19". I went into my barrack several minutes later, found my
family and relatives horrified, so left instantly, teking up a pmt in the
darkness of the laundry room 20 feet awey. Six men who had been posted in the
vicinity rushed the barrack sgein, began the previous interrogation all over;
they closed half of the dooy (the end barrack is a doublt door), and I missed
most of the ensuing conversation (end ny wife has no recollection of what
happened except the shock), but they left a few minutes later, apparently
satisfied I had disappeared againj I rejoined the mob at a respectful distance
from ssross the rmbi'uk on the north end of block 19, The Young Women's
Association Dormitory where Tom and Michi Imsi (Mr. and Mrs. Imai are from
San Fernando--for biographicel data, see Project Report Noe, 82) is located
et 19=14. The dormitory comprises an entire barrack, and the Imais have a small
partitioned room within ite The mob which milled around the barrack on every
side, completely surrounding it must have numbered thres times as many (or so
it at least seemed to me) as that et my barracke Even from & distance, I
noticed the far more numerous weapons (ugly long imives, cluba, iron pipes,
twoeby=fours, rocks) in the hands of the men. Almost everyone wore & pea=coat,
the night was frightfully cold, sbout 30 degrees Fahrenheit, although this is
only & guess on my parte I did not stay there long, but went back to ny own

block. Tom Temotsu Imai, police investigator, describes what happened at his
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barrack as follows:

"I'd had ample warning all right, sbout what was goige to happen to me.
Somehow or other, I'm always & little too late. I'd just put on my pea-coat
end was starting to head out of the north end of the Dormitery to make a dash
out into the firebreak and then down to the station when we heard this shouting
and noise, it came from every direction all at onces We knew it was too late
for me to get out; I was trapped, and boy, let me tell you, was I scared., Michi
turned pale green, and so did all the girls. I had to hide and hide quick; they
hid me in & closet."

His wife, Michi Imai related: "Ten, fifteen, or twenty, I don't remember
exactly how many, banged the door and came into the dormitory; you should have
seen their pale faces, their tense expressione, their set and glassy eyes; their
expresaions were horribles A lot of them had long knives; they would have killed
Tom if they had found hime Some of them had meat cleavers, others long clubs.
All of them spoke in Japanese., When Joy (Joy Soeds, lManganay nursery school
superintendent and one of the girls who stayed at the Dormitery) began speaking
to them in English, trying to reason with them, one fellow snapped back at her in
Jepenese; 'Speak Japanese, this is Japanl' They looked @ll over the dormitery,
even into the closet where Tom was hidden, and we thought the end had come; but
they mst have thought it was just another peascoat hanging inthe closets They
kept going back end forth to the door, both on the south side and the north side

(there are two entrances to the dormitory)s The mob on the ocutside wasn't satis-

fied that every place had been searched. 'Look in the attic ebove the ceiling'
someone shouted, and they came back in and looked theres I don't lmow how long
they were in there, it seemed like ages; but finally they left. A neighbor friai
volunteered to get the police and after a while the soldiers cemc and took Tom
outs I joined him later. Thank God, things turned out as they did and not

otherwise,” (The Imais are leaving tomorrow mordng 1/16/43 from Death Valley to
permanent relooation in Chicago where they have secured employment at the Settle-
ment House) TT.

===lipre to Kume- ¥
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Eye-Witness Accounts of the Dece6 lllnnﬁumotirg-

One man who seys he was an eye-witness spectator at both the afternoon
and evening meetings at block 22, as well as the night rioting in front of the
police station is Sat oru Kamikawa who is currently at the Death

Valley camp awaiting relocation.

lirs Kemfkawe is an alien, in his forties (Note, I do not know his 09
and em epproximeting); he is single; before evacustion, he wes a gardener in West
Los Angeles, and he says he was a trenslator for the Japanese Gardeners' Monthly
published in Los Angeles and edited by a Mr. Negumo. At Mansenar, he was on the
Japanese section siaff of the liansanar Froe Press. He was taken out of the camp
on Tuesday, December 8, by military pelice ascting upon & recommendation made by
Robert Brown, then head of the information division, now Acting Assistant Project
Director. In pre-war days, Kamilaws was said Yo have mingled with the circle
emong Los Angeles Japanese genersally described smong the Japanese as "aka" (Red,
meaning Commnist)s This label more or less continued to be atteched to him at
Manzenars. The following is a verbatinm sscount of his experiences Dec. 6;

"A Kibei roommate of mine told me there was a big moeting going on at
bleck 22, and I should go along with hims I hed remembered seeing several peopls
all thet week making little oclubs out of wooden sticks and had heard a lot of
rumorse This roommate had e olub, he gave me one; we both went up to block 22,
which is only two blocks from my blocks (Kemilewn lived on bleck 20). Ve got
there a little late, and the nmeeting was in full force; some people seid it had
originally been planned for inside the mess hall; but when I arrived, there were

sbout 10 men on the platform for the oil tanks (Every Manzenar block has a
wooden=support pletform on which sits a large tank for the diesel fuel oil which
feeds the mess halls and furnished oil for the barrveck heaters)e They had a

loudspeaker over which they were telkings There must have been shout two thou=-
send people gathered sround, listeninge I could feel the excitement and the
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tension all arounds Me and my Kibei friend were about 20 people from the front
where the speeches were being made. I don't remember who was chairmsn or pre=
siding; but I remember who some of the speakers were and what they said,

"Genji Yemsguohi made a talk; he was very excited, even more exoited timn
at the meeting where the block managers decided to oppose self government, I
don't remember what he said, I was watching the faces around me, and everyone
was getting pretty heated upe Mr. Hashimoto of Block 19 spoke, rather he read
a resolution by the Mess Hall Workers Union calling for a general strike of all
the 36 kitchens on Monday. (He refers here to lir. Sokichi Hashimoté, block 19,
4=4, one of the men reported as having been arrested by military police; I do
not lmow this man, have never met him, and all my knowledge about his is secondery
and hearsay; however, his name was mentioned frequently in connection with the
first Kibei meeting at Menzanar in Auguste.=-TT)

"ir. Hashimoto was very forceful, even though he too was exciteds I do
not know whether he was an officer of the Mess Hall Workers Union, but Ueno,
Tsuji, and Hashimoto seemed to be the most active leaders in that movement. Just
the week before the incident, the three of them eame to the Free Preas office, shd
I talked with thems They wanted us to give more publicily in the Japanese sec~

tion of the Free Press to their mess hall union; they also wanted us to mimeo-

the rules and regulations of their groups I lmew Hashimoto & little bit before
evacuation; we stayed in the same hotel just before we moved to Mansansr. I
don’t know whet he used to do for & livingy they said at the hotel that he
loafed half the time, and worked the other halfe I think he is in his forties;
he's an alien Japanese.

"Another speaker was Maseaki Tanska; he condemned the lisnzanar police
force and seid that there were people in the lanzanar jeil unjustlys He men=-
tioned three nemes; I een't remember all of them; but he said that these three




Manzanar == Tanaks Page T8,

boys had been jailed for throwing rocks into the window of o policewoman 8ome=
time before. Oh yes, the boys names were Kenny Uchida and Sakme Kazunega; the
third one still slips me; anyway he said that they were sentenced to long terms
because they had damsged the window of policewomsn Yoshiko Tabuchi. Tanaks
said that there were many others in camp who had committed greater orimes and
hed not been punished, so why shouldn't these three be relessed, (It should
be recorded here that both Uchida and Kasunega were oonsidered by police as
Juvenile delinguents at the Center with a record of troublemsking; both were
youths still in their teens, both seniors in the high school at lianzanar; they
were suspects in & nuwber of petty thefits, assaulis and batteries and general
migchiefemaking, aceording to police ncoounts, == T7) To continue with

Kenmikewa's ascount:
"Just about this time, someone in the audience yelled; 'There's an

inu (dog)'s I didn't see the man who was being pointed out, but somebody else
yelled right eway: 'Kill him, them, kill him' (Japanese~-tatakikorosel
totekikorosel)es About 30 feet awsy I sew over « dozen men rush to one point
vhere I guess the so=called 'inu' was standinge Some of the men had clubs,.

I was watching the men on the oil platform and noticed that one of them yelled:
'It's o mistake; he's 211 right.' I guess there was too much noise and he
couldn't be heard; the "dnu' wes being manhandled and probably would have been
beat up if the man on the platform didn't greb the loudespeaker and announce

over it that a bad misteke was being mades I guess I was gotiing e little afraid
mysdlf, and I thought meny eyes were on me, although I had many friends there

L00e
"Another speaker was Sam Teteishi, and I don’t exactly remember what

he saids” (Sam Tateishi was a block manager on block 23, is reputed to be a

Kibei, married and the father of one or two children; before evacuation, he
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was o gardener in West Los Angeles; according to JeA.C.Ls members who lived on
the same block and whe, it should be mentioned, had reasons for disliking
Teteishi on grounds of differences of views on the war, Teteishi is desecribed
a8 2 'hypocrite who said one thing to your face and stabbed you when your back
wes turned'; whatever his enemies' opinion of him may have been, he sppears to
have carried weight among the UenowkuriharasYamsguchi group)=-TT, To continue
with Kemilawa's story:

"I think the afternoon meeting was over at ebout two thirty; I heard
later that Mrs Merritt was et the meeting but I didn't see him anyway. There
were many small groups around the firebreak even after the meeting was supposed
tobe overs I think a committee which was negotiating to get Ueno hrought beck
to Menzanar from the Indespendence jeil wes on its way down to the Adninistration
building or the police station. I went down there toos

"The negotisting committee went to the police station; I thought there

were half a dozen members of that committee, but Georpe (Gecrge Hayakews, & mems
ber of the Menzenar police force whose name was also on one of the 'death lists'
and whe is with the group at Death Valley) says there were only three;:

Theae three were Joe Kurihara, Sckichi Heshimoto end Sem Tateishi; I'm sure
Genji Yameguehi was also in this originel group, but George says they weren's,
and he wos inside the police atation.

"At the block 22 meeting, some peovle inthe ecrowd were yelling 'Let's
get Compbell (ied Cempbell, Assistant Project Director), and they repeated this
et the police station in the meeting there, I think there must have been 800
or 900 persons in the mob that gebhered around the police atation and the Ade
ministration building around three o'clock; Mre Merritt and e men who some
people said was Captain Meytyn Hall of the military police met with the come
mittee. I wes wateching first from the Free Press buildings south end (which
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faces the Administration building) end later from the side, which is mrallel
to the police stations There was & car parked right in front of the Adminis-
tration building on the roeds Joe Kurihara got up on this car's running board
and made & speech in Japanese; he said that 'We should kill all the gods in
Manzanar; that the biggest dog was Fred Teyama and the other dogs were Tolutarc
Slocum, Togo Tenakal He said thet Kerl Yoneda and James Oda elso should be
killed but they were slready gone; he also mentioned Koji Ariyoshi and severdl
other names I don't remember. lie said that he had proof that Tayeua was eme
ployed by the FeB.I. He said that Tanake was also, le said that "we Japanese
people have been mest patient up to now, and we will oontinue to be patient if
the Administration will listen %o reason and return Yoshio Uen¢ to lansanay by
six o'olock tonight', If this were not done, Kurihars said that the government
mst be prepared to asaume responsibility for the deaths of the 'imu',

"Phe military pelice arrived not long after sad they set up machine
guns all along the police station end by the Administration building. When
they errived, & lot of fellows in the crowd began to taunt theme In the mean-
time I think Eurihera dnd his committee were discussing the matter with Mre
Merritt and Ceptein Hall end I think Chief Gilkey (Assistant Chief of Police)s
Kurihara seemed to have control of the mob pretity well, because it broke up
before dinner time, although things were very tense. I hurried home to our
bvlock to have dinner and left right after thet to go to the evening meeting
sbain st block 22+ This time thero seemed to be even wore people; I don't
know how many, but maybe 2,600, They used the same oil platform and they
slso had the loudspeaker sgeine There seemed %o be more sSpeakers, although
Kurihera took what seemed to me & leading perts Ben Kishi also spoke; so did
Seigo Muralemi, the judo menj and I don't understand why he is oconsidered to

be the "protector' of Mansener nows" (lMre Kamllawe waa referring to a report
from Manganar yesterdgy 1/14/4% that Mr. Murekami's judo pupils were accompanying
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ell members of the Internal police force as bodyguards and that the police
force was relying heavily upon lMr. Murakemi, a leading jude instructor, for
maintaining law and order within the Center.) TT

"At this night meeting, Jee Kurihara read off snother death list.

I'm not sure, but I think it went something like this, in this order: Fred
Teyams, Tokie Slocum, Karl Yoneds, Koji Ariyoshi, James Oda, Togo Tanaka, Tom
Imei, George Hayakawa, Joe Masaoks, Tad Uyenoe Lots of people were yelling
from the orowd, and new names were being added here and there, I didn't ‘catch
everything. I left before the meeting was over, because it looked pretty bad
and unhealthy. Before I got very far away, I saw the mob splitting up into twe
different perts, one group was heading for the hospital and the other to the
police station. I think this wes around 6:15 or 6:30 o'clocks, I don't remember
for sure.”"

(I am unable, either to vouch for or challenge the authenticity and
accuracy of lir. Kemikewa's version of the riot's progress; in an evaluation
of the foregoipg, however, I think it should be borne in mind that Kemikawa's
experience on the Free Press gives him some qualifications for good observation

and reportinge You can check these different versions with the official reports

regarding the times of the various incidents.=-TT)

WHAT HAPPENED IN AND AROUND the police station after the mob began
Bathering after dinner is described in an eye-witness account by G e or g e
Hayakaws, @ detective on the lianzanar police force who was in the station
within half an hour of the time the mob first assembled straight through until
2 o'clock the next morning. He says:

"Sunday's my day off, and I was fooling around and resting and doing
nothing. I 1ive on block 14, and I didn't notice anything different around
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camp; of course, it may be just me. I think it was around six o'clock, my

sister came running in to the barrack and told me thet a mob was coming to
kill me and I better get out. Boy, I sure got out fest and went to the
station. My sister later told me that the mob came about ten minutes after
I lefts (Note: Hayakawa's timing seems to conflict with other versions
generally, which place the mob milling eraind Block 14 nearer 7:16 P.M. =-TT),
At the station I got hold of Higashi (Kiyoshi Higashi, chief of police) and
we drove the sedan to block 9 where I let Higashi off, I then drove up to
block € to pick up Harry (Harry Okmmro, snother member of the Manzanar police
force) and together we went over to block 22 where Yo Ishida lives. (Ishida is
also & policeman)s He was taking @ shower, so we waited, then left him with
half a dozen other policemen at% his berracke We thought maybe some of the pro=
Axis guys would try to rush him, but we were pretty sure that Yo (Ishida is a
wrestler of amateur standing, stands six feet tall and weighs eround 200) ocould
give a good accounting of himself any time. Vie were going to pick them up later,
but when we returned, we saw half a dozen pro=Axis guys surrounding the house,
80 we left for the station. When we got near, we could see the mob already had
gathered, and the military police were out there again helding them. We cut
outside the road and came into the station from the outside way to avoid the mobe
"Captain Hall and Mr. Merritt were talking to each other in the station,
and over by the corner were Joe Kurihara, Genji Yamaguchi, Sam Tateishi, this
guy Hashimoto, and & couple of others I didn't lmow and oan't remember their
names. The orowd was getting bigger and bigper all the time and meking a hell
of o lot of noise, I looked outside the window from time to time, and boy, was
I glad those MP's were around with their rigles and bayonetts. Kurihars was
trying to ergue with Captein Hall that Ueno should be released. Ueno was in the
Manzanar jail; they'd brought him back from Independence; he sure looked cocky;
they had him locked up in the rear of the building where the cell is.
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"The mob was raising hell outside; they first sang "Kimigayo® (the
Japanese Natim al Anthem); they followed it up with "Aikel Keshin Kyolu'
(A Japanese patriotic march), then #¥ith 'Kaigun March' (Navy merching hymn).
They even started dancing the ondo. They would get close to the soldiers and
taunt them. Some fellows were tlumbing their noses at the soldiers, I saw
several of them go right up to the M.P. then turn around, point at their own
rear ends in derisive fashion and dare the M.Ps to shoots A lot of them were
doing the same thing from the front, pointing to their own chests or stomachs.
One fellow went up to an MsPe and suddenly jumped him, grebbing the soldier's
gun away from himj; he gave it back right away thoughe

"Around 8:16 P«M. things looked like they were getting pretty much
out of hands Captain Hall just ignored Kurihare completely when it came to
discusging anything about releasing Ueno., He turned to him and told him it
wasn't even any use talking unless Rurihare weant outside and dispersed the
mobe Joe Kurihara seid, "I can't do anything now, I haven't got any control
over that mob nows’ Qaeptain Hall didn't say e word, he just ignored Joe come

pletely after thate I think Kurihaere dnd Yeamsguchi and the others wanted teo

go out of the station and join the mob, but they weren't allowed to do so;
they weren't under arrest, though, to my kmowledges They wepe just inside the
station and they couldn’t go out because the soldiers barred the way. They
were placed under errest at midnight, :

"I think it was eround 8:30 when the orowd was getting too mich out of
hand and was even ignoring orders of soldiers to back up., Captain Hall was
being cussed up and down by the soldiers because he wouldn't give them the order
to shoots Boy, wore the soldiers meds, A few minutes later, I think he gave the
order to throw tear gas; the soldiers did and the orowd began running in all
directions; there was a pretty strong wind sgainst the direction from which the
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gas was throwns At the same time, I think the guys in the front of the mob
got hysterical because it was packed so solidly in the back and they couldn't
get going very fast in the backward directions It looked to me like a lot of
then got hysterical and began running in the direction of the soldiers. It
was then that the first four shots were fired; I was told at the order of
chtain Hall who certainly had been patient up to that time. Although this
seattered the mob quite & bit, it didn't disperse them sltogether. A few
minutes later, someone started Fire Chief Honn's light coupe, put it inte high
or second gear and jumped out, aiming the car toward & machine gun nest. The
lisutenant opened up with machine gun fire; the bullets must have bounced all
over the damned place because that's when some more people were injured. One
guy died that night of bullet wounds, enother died & few days later; four others
were injured end treated for bullet wounds; there were three or four others
whe were treated at the hospital for bruises, bumps, and injuries they got when
they fell end fellows stepred on top of theme There sure must have been a lot
of them sick, becanse that tear ges has an awful effect. Right after the crowmd
wes finelly put on the run by the soldiers, the ringleaders of the mob began
holding another meeting in mess hall 1; they were meking all kinds of speeches
there when the U.P's went and threw more tear gas bombs into the kitchen, and
they went streeming outside again,”

On Georg ' ¢ He is 26, a Nisei, formerly engeged in the fbpist

bus iness in Glendale which had previously been owned and operated by his parents;
he is married and the father of a daughter nearly 2 yeers old; his wife is an
invalid, eiling of pleurisy at the lianganer hospital; she is virtually a tubere
cular patient, her illness dating back before evacuation. Hayakawa is fluent in
English and Japanese, though he speaks neither with polish; he is a good con-
versationalist and talker, has a slight tendency and flair for exagperation,
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and does not always, in my opinion, meticulously stick to the facts in a des-
eription of places, persons, or events, Nevertheless, he does appear to have ag
goa memory for detail and is a fairly godl observer. There is no doubt that he
was "marked' on the death list because of his police activities. His parents
and parenta-inelaw are at Manzanar, as are his wife and beby dla:gl'rtol;. Hs is
here at Death Valley with his sister; they plan to releocate in the east.
Hayakawa hopes to call his family as soon as he re=es@ablishes himself,

WHAT HAPPENED AT THE HOSPITAL before the mob finally coverged on the
police station area where the shooting ocourred is partielly described in en
account by Fred Tayama:

"It was late in the afterncon and my head was still throbbing from the
injuries of the night befores Iy whole body ached, and I had been seeing my
family and pelatives who had been up visiting me in the ward. My brothers told
me of the meetings that were going on, and I asked Tom (Tom Tayemes, who had been
Chief Steward in the mess division and whose ocuster from that position had been
pressed by Harry Ueno in his organizing of the mess hall workers union) Lo see
lire Herritt about getting me out of the camp.

"Around six o'clock, maybe it was a little earlior, Dr. Goto (Dr. James
Goto, chief surgeon and head of the medical section of the Mansanar Hospitel)
came to me and told me to hurry up and get dressed, because the military police
were being called to take me out of the camp, I got up from the bed, barely able
to stand until I could get my bearings and started to dress hurriedly. All of
a sudden, Do¢c Goto came dashing back in full speed aocross that ward floor. He
shouted out of breath: 'We're too late, we're too late, the hospital’s surrounded,
and they're pouring in.' He scted very coolly, thoughe He put me under one of
those movable beds, you know the kind that turn up at the back if you wind a
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handle. There's & little shelfelike place underneath the bed, and he stuck me
in there and covered the bed with the sheets; he did this very quiockly end
stepme d toward the door; there was no one else in the section where I was hidden,
of course; it's #n the end of the ward, near the rear door Just as he stepped
toward the entrance which separates that section from the main part of the ward,
the mob eame pouring in, from both the rear and the front. Dr. Goto was caught
right in the middles They yelled at him in Japanese: "Turn him over, turn thet
dog over; we're going to kill him." They were swearing up and down, and I could
just feel the hysteria in their throats. There was a pile of cardboard boxes in
the other corner, with blankets underneath; I had noticed it as he was hiding
mes From my hiding place, I could hear them kicking those boxes losse end twne
ing all the blankets over. They were arguing among themselves. One fellow
celled down another; ™“What's the matter with you, don't you realigze the serious
purpose we're hire fort? Ve've here to kill a man, don't you lnow? Kill him}.
Weke upl® Ancther man shouted: "When we kill that dog, we're going to cut his
head off and put it on & pole and exhibit it all eround camp as an exemple of
what heppens to dogs.' All through the other wards and on the outside, I could
hear the cries: 'Teyamal Taysmal Get that dog Teyamal® Boy, I thought several
times as I lay there that I was sure %o be killeds The mob was meking such de-
mands on Doc Goto that I was almest certain he would have talturn me over to
save his own 1ifes He did't though; how he did it I don’t know, but I owe

my life to him, I neticed at one time that one of the searchers turned over the
bedsheet on the bed just scoross from the one in which I lay; 4if he had turned
over mine, they would have discovered me. Afbter o long time, they went ltrnﬁi.ng
down the corridor and inte the next warde I could hear them pounding through
the hospitels Dre Goto went with theme® (Wote: According to George Hayalkewa's

version of this incident and his is a second hand 'nﬂi.dn: Drs Gobte furthered

his ruse by joining the mob and yelling with them 'Get that dog Tayema',
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When the mob members later in the evening discovered he had saved Tayama, they
gent several men to threaten his life., He is said to have salmly told them:
Y1 you kill me, nobody is geing to teke the bullets out of the hides of those
men who lie there shot by the soldiers. Now what are you going to doi' They
didn't kill him, Hayakawa relates.--T7) To continue with Taysama:

"Phey came back inte the same ward again, not satisfied that I wasn't
there. They ree-guestioned Dre. Goto who was still wii h theme I was worried too
because ny mother was in the women's ward; she had been suffering from & stomach
iliness, end she couldn't help but heer ell that shouting and yellinge (Note:
Mrse Tayems, Fred's mother, died at the lengenar hospitel the morning of the day
bvefore Christmas. Ner funeral services were held here at Death Valley several
days latere=-1T)

"I remained hidden in the hospital for three hours until the militery
police finally arriveds Miss Vetszel, the head nurse there, came and took me to
another ward just after the mob had left the hespitale They said, however, that
there were & lot of the mob still posted @s lookouta all around the hespital.
Finally, when the militery police ceme at sbout 9 or 9:30, let me tell you, ‘11
never experience that again but I was sure glad to see & soldier with & rifle and
a bayonets”

Apperently, piecing together the verious eye-witness accounts, the mob
procesded from the hospital eastward toward block 24 where the Slocums resided;
thence %o block 36 (where I resided); enroute it aplit up into smaller groups,

some going to block 18 where the Tayems relatives resided; others to block 19 and

14
e lore to Kum ==
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Note to lorton: Your letter dated Jans 12 asks three questions; two of
' them, on the eye-witness records of the pre=riot meetings
and the hospital acocount, I bave attempted to partially
:nmr in the foregoing pages. The other question en
any explanation for the fact that most of the trouble
sesmed to arise in block 22" is answered as followa:

On the follbwing pege is a disgram which I seribbled out in en effort to find
reasons for Blook 22's position as the scene of most of the trovble meking, In
the first place, the fact that (1) Harry Yoshio Ueno lived b Blook 22, building s,
barrack 4 undoubtedly hed mich to do with the block meetings there on Sunday,
Dece €+ Ueno was considered something of a leader on his block and was apparent-
ly respscted and had followerss In the gecond place (2), a glance at the disgrem
will show that block 22 is centrally located and almest in the middle of the
lanzener areas Ueno's associates, Genji Yamaguchi (block 13), Joe Kurihara
(bleck 28), Sokichi Heshimoto (block 19), liaseali Tanake (block 32) Sem Tateishi
(block 23), may have agreed that 28 was the wost convenient place to meet; further-
more, the fact that Ueno was & junior cook in the mess hall probably facilitated
arrengements in securing the hall as e meeting place; also it should be remembered
that organisation of the mess hall workers union originated in block 22.

To the beat of imowledge gained from information about the people of
block 22, there are no particular grounds te believe these residents had any more
grievances against the administration than residents on any other block, aside
from the faot that it was e fellow resident of their blook who had been arrssted
in the Tayama attecks I do not have statistios showing places from which the
various blocks in Manzanar received their populetion; however, this can approxi-
mately be traced through the acocount of the arrivals and their dates; these
statistics may exist, but I do not imow wheres It is imown at Manzanar, however,
and & check-up should confirm it, that dmost all of Block 3 derived its population

from Bainbridge Island, Washington; that mest of blocks 9 and 10 are people fram
Terminal Islands On this basis, it has been partially ascertained that most of
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the people on block 22 are from the downtown Los Angeles area.

An incident oscurring this summer may throw some light on the attitudes
of people on block 22, however, The Japanese language "proeAzis® tallk which goes
on in the latrines, ot the showers, in the mess hall, in conversations all around
hes been & source of discomfort end irritation to more then one adult Nisei.

Mre and Mrs, Joe Ito were a young Nisei couple (in their late twenties) from

Los Angeles; thay have one son, age two or threse Ito lived at Bleok 22, builde
ing 1, barreck 4. Before evacuation, he was employed as a clothing goods sales-
men in Loe Angeles; he is & Nisei who has never been to Japan, speaks Japanese
very little; he end his wife spoke only English %o each other and to their sons
Their manners evidently did not conform to the Japanese customs of bowing and
greeting in Japaneses They came to liansanar sometime in May and within two
weeks were intensely unhappys They left the Center some time in August or Septe
exber (The lanzanar records on relocation have the exact date)s Before leaving
Joe Ito said: "We're just fed up with this pleces The people on this block are
intolerant end intolerable. They spesnk ill of us and spread rumors and lies.
They've mentally persecuted us until we both feel we can't stand it & minute
longer; we've grabbed the first chance on relocation we ean get though we've neither
ever done any domestic works I think of my little son's future, and I'1l be
hanged if we're going te let him grow up in this godawful envirenments There's

8 basterd e few doors eway who's @ hell raising egitators Mind you, nothing
good's going to come of staying in this goddamed hellhole.” His profanity exw
pressed his feolings quite well, I thoughts I do not lmow to this day if he was
referring to Harry Ueno ot the time, It would be interesting to receive cor-

respondence from him, which I hope to 4d if contact san be re-established.

o= lore to Kum ==
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Note to Morton: Replying to questions in your letter dated January 13:
" Refer to page 28--

(1) I do not have the "complete 1ist" of nemes read by Kuriharas over
the loudspeaker as the "death 1ist" on Dec. 6+ The different versions already
reported indicate several readings and by persons other than Kurihara as well,

Refor to page 3R-=-

(2) Members of the newspaper staff of the L. A. Japanese Daily News,
Jomo Tume, Keeew Sewees, (whose identities can be ascertained) reported late
in December that Tokie Slooum accompanied F.B.I. agents in their arrests of
Central Japanese Association officers in Litile Toklo on the night of December 7,
1941, 1In addition to Slooum's own statements to that effect, it was common telk
among Americen Legion officials of the County Council who made reference to
"eomrade Tokie's courageous loyalty" on several occasions. This is all the
evidence I know anything ebout to substantiate the generally acknowledged bee
lief thet Slocum accompanied (literally, not figuratively), the F.B.I. Whether
it is true or not possibly cannot be determined from the evidence at hands It
might be added in this connection that Saturo Kamikewa (see page 76) said yester-
dey: "Slocum told me he was an F.B.I. agent when we were all still et the mili-
tary barracks just after the riot. He ceame up to me one day and called me aside
end said, "Now it can be told, but I have been working for the F.B.I." That is
& verbatim statement by Kamikawa. Scrutinize it and see how rumors end impres-
sions ebout Slooum grow. Kemikewa seys that Slocum told him he was "an F.B.I.
sgent,” Yet, in giving a quotation of what Slocum is elleged to have told him,
Kemikawa reveasls that Slooum said he was "working for the F.B.I.” I have no facts

to exactly define the nature or status of Slocum’s relationship with the Federal

Bureau of Investigation. There is ample evidence to support the statement Slocum
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created the impression et Mansanar that he was "working for the F.B.I." My

-personal opinion is that Slocum was never employed as & paid agent of the

FoBeI. but volunteered information and correspondence regularly.

Refer to page 36=-

Lebel the following as hu?.rlay, second and third hand: Up to the day
of the riot, Manganar was visited by the F.B.I. possibly six or seven .t.:lm.s.
(A record has probably been kept by the War Relocation Authority at Menszanar),
On almost every wisit, word thet an "F.B.I. man is in cemp” seemed to have
circulated throughout the Center within an hour of the sgents’ arrival; et
any rate, secreocy, if it was intended, was never maintained. On several of
the return trips, possibly not all, the agents took with them arrested suspects,
elien evacuee residents of the Center. F.B.I. arrests at lManzener up to the
time of the riot were probably less than a dozen. On one known ococasion (be=
cause his arrest caused considerable unrest and gossip), a man returned from
& Justice Department detention camp to rejoin his family at Manzanar was picked
up by agents and taken out of camp a few days following his arrivals The rumor
was to the effect that this man, an alien with several eitizen children, had
been embittered by his experience in detention and had spoken out openly and

loudly on his return to lManszanar. The rumor specifically mentioned Tolie
Slocum a8 having overheard this men and blemed him for the second arrest. Come

minity ettitudes toward F.B.I. incursions into Manzanar seemed to be divided.
There is no doubt that they csused unrest, uncertainty, fear, and defiance
emong the older Japanese-speaking element. Resentment and & feeling that "do
we have to be persecuted and hunted even behind prison walls?® were frequently
expressed by the more outspoken of this elemente Among the more English=apeak=
ing group (definitely in the numerical minority among adults), attitudes varied
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from the extrems of "the F.B.I. should come into this camp and clean out the
pro-Japan agitators " to one of "I don't give a damn, but I don't think much

of informing rats." My own personal opinion has been that F.B.I. investigations
and arrests WITHIN a relocation center worked against conditions necessary for
successful W.R.A. inhinhtration. Invariably, new unrest and turmoil were
left in the wake of an F.B.I, viait,

Refer to_page §7--
The neme is Yamsguchi, in Japanese ( 0 , not Yamsgiuchi or Yeamaguichi

(which are typographical errors)s I should be eshamed of the now apparent ame

biguities of my statement. There wmere other articulate Issei influences in

lanzanar, of courses The church ministers, both the Christians and Buddhishs,
represented & definite, erticulate influence among the Issei; there were Issei

in the community cooperative enterprises whose outlook on the growing group
conflict did not coincide with Yeamsguchi; there were Issei in the Community
Services division whose efforts were directed in line with securing resident
cooperation wit h the Administration; there were Issei on the Manszanar Educational
Coundil; there were Issei individuals in nearly all departments of work who as
individuals undoubtedly held certain views and convictions which were at sariance
with Yameguchi, But the point is, Yamaguchi's assumption of active leadership

in demanding "an investigation of the camp by the Spanish Azbassador because we
are prisoners of war", his leadership in launching e campaign of violcneg egainst
2 group refusing te share his views, was neither criticised, opposed, nor challeng-
ed openly by any Issei, individually or collectively. Privately there was, and
possibly is, condemnation of the men, or his activities. Openly, up to the riot,
there was none: whereas there was ample encoursgement at various meetings pre-
ot i (e et A B 1

that expression 'the people themselves' sgain in con-
nection with this particular report)e




Refer to pege 3

Joe Kurihara's membership in the Commodore Perry Post of the Americaen
Legion before evacustion is no positive or relisble indication that he was a
quite different person at that time. The best index of his attitude (pre-wer
period) would be, in my epinion, his written by-line articles which appeared in
the L& o Japanese Daily News for several years before wer brlolm. These files
ares to be returned to me at a later date, at which time something definite can

be writtens I had nn. first=hand opportutity to learn of his pre-wer attitude;

but ny recollections of his letters and writings are that he concurred in, or

at least did not oppose, the editorial policy of the paper which stressed
"American loyalty of native~born Japanese® to the extent that policy frequently
drew down the comment, "Flagwaving®, from the anti~J.A.CLL. minority group re-
presented by such individuals as Chiye Mori, Tom Yemaseki, Shuji Fujii.
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Coneclusions:

I. In grouping the participants, one can roughly
ldentify three factions among evacuees in the Manzanar riot:
(1) The J.A.C.L. group, Fred Tayama, Joe Masaoka (who was not
at lManzanar at the time), Togo Tanska, Tad Uyeno, To Imai...
(2) The anti-J.A.C.L. Free Press group, Tom Yamazakl, Chiye
Mori, CGeorge Kurata, Satoru Kamikewa, Joe Blamey, ...

(3) The anti-Administretion, anti-J.A.C.L. Ueno-Kurlhare-Yams.

guehl group which carried out the violence. Groups 1 and 2

were evacuated to Death Valley; group 3 landed in jail under
military arrest. Group 1 figures found themselves on Group

S's death 1list; group 2 leaders were on the blaek 1ist of group

3. Between'groups 1 and 2, no love has apparently been lost;
there seems to exist mutual distrust and suspleion--and dislike
personally. Group 1, whose members arrived at Manzanar several
weeks after most of Group 2 had already established themselves,
charges the latter with having "laid the mines and torpedoes in
edvance of our coming;‘thsy prepared the Administration--and

early evacuees for a hogtile reception for us; they kept up the
vicious rumors to perpetuate themselves iIn their petty little
Jobs, continuing petty jemslousies and frictions of pre-evacuation
days." Group 2 makes 1ittle secret of a simlilar attitude toward
Group 1: "Troublemakers, the whole lot. The J.A.C,L, should have
had sense enough to know that the people were fed up and sick of
its name; they were so used to grabbing selfish control of every-
thing that when they discovered 1t couldn't be done at Manzanar, they
began ngltaﬁing; they should have kept their traps shut and minded

their own business."

II. The majority of the 10,000 residents of the
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Mangzanar relocation center were neither active nor passive parti-
cipants in the ineident. Rather, they were interested, curious,
somewhat bewildered spectators. I do not believe that any one

of the three Groups commanded any substantial, loyal following.
Groups 1 and 2 certalnly did net; Group 3, in my opinion, rep-
resented a apontaneous outburst of pent-up emotion growing out of
fears and uncertainties which made for a neurotic state of mind

among a large section of the population; the incentive to resist

the Ueno-Kurihara-Yamaguchi line within Manganar did not exist,

IIT, The impression given in newspaper accounts

of the Manganar riot that the instigators were all "pro-Japan"

or "pro-Axis" (and the same was applied to their alleged fol-
lowers) and that the intended vietims were "pro-American"--all
of them--is not an accurate plecture, If it implies that all the
oustanding "pro-American” individuals have been driven out of
the center and only "pro-Axis" or "pro-Japan" elements are left,
it 1s entirely erroneous and mlsgleading, It 1s undoubtedly true
that differences in ideology and position on the war played an
important part; but these were incidental to c¢lashes of person-
ality and organizational frictlion in leading to the riot itself.
IV, From the standpoint of evacuees anxlious to
repose confidence in a Caucasian administrative staff, Manganar's
W,R.A, representatives fell short of understanding and solving
the complexities of the job. For instance, the assistant project
direftor whose life was threatened by the agitators (Group 3) was
privately disliked and condemmed by Groups land 2 as well, One
administrative official, who told evacuees he was "fired" from his
job because "politics" was being played, had commanded probably
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more general respect and support from among evacuees than any off-
icial in Manzanar's history.

V. Whether the Manzanar Center will be the scené of
another riot like that of Dec, 6 or not will depend more upon
successful administration by the W,R A, staff there than upon
the type of evacuee leadership whiech now asserts itself, This atat@-
ment is based on the convietion that evacuee leadgrahip in 2 relo-
cation center at best 1s temporary and never enjoys much more than
minority confidence and support. One of the most difficult prob-
lems of administration is that of getting evacuees sympathetic, or
at least cooperative, in their attitude toward the W,R,A, adminis-
tration; if even partial success were attained, the vieious cirecle
of rumors which make for so much unrest and fear would be cut down
conslderably, Manzanar is like a lady with a shady past, in this
respect; she can't seem to live down her record in the eyes of a
disbelieving, distrustful, suspicious populace, The under-
lying situation in which setting 1t 1s not diffiecult to ereate a
riot remains., Manzanar is not wnlike a power barrel, Groups 1,

2, and 3 constituted short fuses, as of December &, 1942. It took

a single incident to ignite the barrel, Elimination of the most
apparent and active members of those groups has reduced the hazard
of another blow-off in any predictable immedlate future; but that
does not by any manner or mesns indicate the underlying situation has
been corrected, That pre-riot surface appearances have returned

to Manzanar ls the impression conveyed through a number ¢f channels:

for instance, there were 82 members of the Internal Security police

force on the night of the riot; today there are 78, with few changes
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in the personnel; the schools are open, and c¢lasses have been re-
sumed: the community enterprises are operating; likewise the shoyu
and bean sprout plants; mess halls continue to serve the average
of 31,000 meals daily; block residents are beginning to speak
cordially to one another after a period of suspiecious silence and
frigid snubbing: even the intensity of feeling againat Death
Valley evacuee refugees appears to have diminished slightly, In
this connection, the food dispatchers at Manzeanar who loaded the
corrugated cartons of canned goods for the Death Valley camps

on December 11, marked the eartons in English and Japanese: "For
the Dogs and Cats", One box containing pepper and spices was
labelled: "Flea Powder". On January 17, the shipment inecluded
boxes with markings in Japanese & English: "Chu-Sel Gun" (Loyalty
Group" and "Anti-Axis." Possibly, it would be more accurate to
observe that the food dispatchers at Manzanar had found their

wrath transformed to sarcasm.

The foregoing conclusions and observations, part-

lecularly those referring to the "groups", are generalizations.

General statements at best are only approximately true.--TT
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Addendeg

Following is a copy of the report prepared by Kiyeshi Higashi, resident
Ghief of Internal Security at Manganar, with the assistance o £ Chief Come
missioner Willard Schmidt, for the National Emergency Conference of the Japanese
American Citizens Lesgue at Salt Lake City, Utah, November 17-24. The report
was submitted over three weeks before the Manzanar rict. It contains pvidence

that the Msnzenar police department was fully eware of the situation whish
reached its head in the riot. The preport follows: (lir. Higashi remains at
Mangenar in his capacity as resident Chief of Internal Security)

"BACKGROUIND: Everywhere in Americe, and particularly on the

Weat Coast where large numbers of Japanese have lived, there has been & marked
absence of orime among our people. Police blotters seldom carried Japanese
names. The oriminal incidents rate among Japanese was negligible.

"Pride, family training, neighbor and public opinion weré strong prevent-
ives to irregular conduct. It is these same forces that have been deterrents
to law=breaking in the centers. During the period when evacuees have been
busily cnéagod in making furniture, cupboards and closets for their physical
comfort, internal security statistica have been remarkably low.

"Now, with more leisure time, dormant forces are beginning to create
disturbances. What hes seemingly appeared to most Caucesian administrators
es & placid commnity life, in reality, covered a cauldron in which differing
ideclogies, unmiscible as oil and water, seethed end boiled. Sur_!.'aco in=-
dications of this internal strife have appeared from time to time, However,
center officials have usually dismissed these symptoms with an academie

leniency.
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"The real threat to peace and order within the centers will not come

from individual lewlessness. The bombshell that will shatter these comminitias

#4281 be the blow-off of (1) accumulated resentments , (2) herbored injustices,
3) racial diseriminations, (4) pro-Ja convictio

grievances. As time goes on, rather than a settling process, mob outbreaks,

mass demonstrations, gang atrocities and acts of terrorism will recure frequently,
WRA edministrators must realize the dynamite they are dealing with; they

mst be realistic; they must not encourage the mushrooming of small ineidents

by condoning with official laxity; individuals advocating construotive atti-

tudes and activities must be shielded from vengeful harm; deleterious elements

in each eamp must be recognised and intelligent yet stern methods must be

instituted to ocurb them,
"MARNING: The handwriting on the wall is the insurgence of

"Nippon Banzai” groups. These elements will use every dissatisfaection to fan
the flames of trouble. Unless measures are taken to cope with them, the entire

WBA program is jeopardized. The control of any center by intimidation or the
outbreak of violence by this group will bring down the dve and ery of the
press that the WRA is coddling pro-Axis sentiment; that the Army should run

the centers.

"Despite circumspection in drawing up any plan of self=government, there

is an inevitable perversity among some of the residents. These 'agineers'
will atteck provisions in the constitution, or the people elected, or their
method of elections It is very likely that these snipers are the spearhead
of an organized opposition that operates sub rosa feeding the fires of dise
content.

"It is also likely that this underground movement is allied or idnetisal
to the pro=Japan elements in the center. Fpr this reason, the forces of law




end order must asbsolutely predominate in the center. The Judiciary code of
the center Constitution must be rigidly enforced; at no time must the sinister
groups of intimidation, of coercion, or of blackmail gain the upper hand,

as they have in some commnitiess,

"If those who believe in America are to continue to live side by side
with those who have lost their faith in Amerieca, then the forward-looking,
wholesome people in the centers must be protected from those who Jeer and
teunt and threeten thems

"C OURTS: Under present rulings, felonies are talken outside the
centor and tried in the county. Destruction of center property constitues
& felony and becomes liable to the seme procedure, Shifting of trial out-
8ide the center means a prejudiced court in the eyes of many residents.

"The Judiciary code drawn up by representatives of the center is the
lawe Infractim & are tried and sentences, subject to Project Director approval,
meted out to offenders. While the panel of the Judiciary Committee includes
both Caucasians and residents, the Japanese serving thereon have frequently
become the target of intimidation and coercion. Already, conditions have
become such that in some centers, laweabiding elements have been driven to
cover, thus rendering themselves ineffective and non-assertive.

"Fair Prectise and Grievance Committees funotion in the verious centers
a5 oonciliatory and arbitration boards to adjust work conditions and worker's
controversies. Here, too unsatisfactory decisions often become personal
grudges, and members of such boards are sometimes waylaid end beaten,

"EIRE AND POLICE PROTEGC?TION: Cognizance of the

fire hagzards inherent in the allewood type of center construetion has led to
the placing of fire extinguishers in all dwellings. However, telephones or

some fire alarm system should be made availsble in every block. Most imperea=
tive, however, is the need for frequent fire drills in the schools, which are




barracks converted to classroom use. Should flames start in these fire traos,
panic and casualties are probable.

"Police organization in the light of recent events should be a four-phase
programs:

"le Jail of sentenced offenders should be striet isclation except
for definite visiting hours, No visiting should be permitted at windows of
Jailhouses nor should refreshments be brought in to prisoners and a general
partying be tolerated during the visiting period.

"2+ Segregation of known troublemakers to & separate center must be
accomplished in the interests of peace and orders The WEA pelicy of lenience
hes resulted in cowering the decent center population to submission to
terroristic rule. Unless this is done, agitators will continue to foment
trouble and eventually oall down upon evacuees and WRA administration a strict
military surveillance and perhaps even congressional investigation.

"2. Policing and records are & matter of intelligent mechanics. Netur-
ally, men of known integrity should be engaged in patrol work; otherwise
unscrupulous policemen may attempt Lo curry special privileges for themselves
and families or their groups.

"8 Investigative Police, like their undervover counterparts inthe
eities, should have their fingers and ears on the "dangerous areas" and "sore
spots” of each commmnity. Advance warnings of outbreaks should be forecasted

end serious demonstrations averted. Violations of the Judieiary Code should
be duly inveatigated with full utilization of modern police procedures.

"4, Classroom instruction in fundamentals of police work should be

started in all centers as a special inducement &b attract and hold high caliber |
men. How to write a report, how to investigate, fingerprint classification,
handwriting and typewriting identification, police photography, how to identify




by pictures, plaster casting of footprints, first ail
evaluation of evidence should be among lecture sub jecta.
"G ANGSTERIS M: Gengs which lave run afoul of

usually been infused with resentments and injustices fanned ali™
by pro=Japan personss These gangs have directed their sssaults agains

viduals who have been prominent in commmnity sctivities whom they label .

"administration stooges” or “JACL guys." Generally, their attitude has besn

one of braggadocio because of seeming immnity egainst legal punishments,
"RACKETEERING AND GAMBLING: To date no racket-

Sering has been uncovered in the center. LIQUOR has been smigrled in by
Caucasien workers. Dismissal of such bootleggers has stopped illicit liquor
traffickings Police are often ghallenged with:

"Is liquor contraband?

"What WRA ruling prohibits ligquor purchases?

"Does possession and driixking constitute a legal viclation?

"Is the act of bringing in liquor to the centers or meil orders of
li.:iuor e pimhhible orime?

"Gambling in & vice sense does not spparently exist. Reported sases
have seldom pessed the friendly stage. \

"PRO-JAPAN ELEMENTS: WVholesale experiences of the

recial evsouation and living within centers surrownded by baybed wires and
watchbowers are in the eyes of many prime facie evidence that a future in

this country is hopeless for us. These, too, they believe are indisputable
arguments that Japin'i is the righteous cause.

S0 those viio espouse Americanism, perticipation in the armed forces of
this country, work on defense projects, and relocation are perticular ob jects
of enmity and persecudion.




2 "Numerically, this pro-Japsn element is small, but the ’
insidious propaganda can do te the peace and order of the somminity should
not be too lightly regerded.

"CONGLUSTION: Internal security should be exactly what its

title connotes. Keports issuing from some centers indicate that security

of life and limb for those be-spenking constructive attitudes does not exist.
On the other hend, malefactors have been so condoned that theirnefarious
beatings of decent citiszens continues not only unebated, but with incressing
frequencye

"A warning note mst here be agein emphasized. As commmnity leaders
leave on individual relocation, the genters are drained of the spark plugs
which give momentum to WRA policies. The elements which meintained hopeful
ettitudes of personal rewestsblishment mey disintegrate. The centers may be-
come hotbeds of unrest and indolence, Truly, a great many of the evasuees

may becoms persuaded to remain as wards for the duration. With such a spirit

rampant within the centers, WRA administration may of necesaity become transe
formed into & prison administration to meintain peace and order."




